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GLOSSARY

RIS

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the ~RAAREFRA - KX EBSEFIEIN - THFR=ES

following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“2022 AGM"”
[2022FRHRAFKE |

"AGD"
(SR EER |

“AGM"
[BRBFARE ]

“AGT"
[=ELAIR

“Articles of Association”

[#RAE=FZ40A ]

“Ascend”
[ Ascend ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEREE]

“Board”

a0
“business day”
[&%A]

“BVI"
[REBREZES ]

“CEO”"
[T

“CG Code”
[{bEEAFA]

“Chairman”

[E/F ]
“Chit Tat”
[z

“close associates”

[EZHEA

AT °

the AGM to be held on Thursday, 8 September 2022
#72022F9 A8 H (2 BAM) B1THIRRIBF KE

Accel Development Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SEMERRBRAR  ARANEEREZENB QR

the annual general meeting of the Company

AABBRRBFAR

Accel Innovations Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SRAMERAR - ARRNEEZENBAF

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
KATVEBZRMAA - ETBHEET

Ascend Group Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Ascend Group Holdings Limited * ZNA B EEZE N B A )

the audit committee of the Board

EFxgEnLBe

the board of Directors

=g

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which
licensed banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business

BERFBBEBIT-RAPIZENEA A F(EHN - EHERBFBRRBBARI)

the British Virgin Islands
RERUES

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRARITIRAREL

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
FRAIM ST O A EE TR ERE GRS

the chairman of the Board
EFXEERE

Chit Tat Electrical Engineering Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

REMETIRARAR - ARANHE2ANBLA

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA LmRAIPTETRE



“code provision(s)”
[ =F Bl

“Company”
VNS

“Company Secretary”
[RAEMWE ]

“connected person(s)”

[BEEAL

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 2R ARER
“Corresponding Year”
[ £ ]

“COVID-19"

[ 2L AR s 5

"“Director(s)”

==

“Dr. Ko”

(=it

YE&M”
[ 42 |

“Group” or “our” or “Accel”

or “us” or "we"

[ ARSIkl AP ekl =t

“HK$" or “HKD" or “HK cents”

BT skEl ]

“Hong Kong”
el

“INED(s)"
B IEITESR

BREEZERERAT 20225548

GLOSSARY &=

code provision(s) as set out in the CG Code
1A T RIESI Y #) <7 RIMEST

Accel Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1283)
SREEZERERAR  RRAEHSTMA I NER DR - ERMAE AT =M (kG
5% - 1283)

the company secretary of the Company

EA/NSIO VNGRS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T AR R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the context of the
Company, means Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Lightspeed Limited, or any one of them
BEEFWRAFAE THRE ARG EHESE LT - sk + Klightspeed Limited -
SEFMEF—RAL

the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31BILFE

the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a novel
coronavirus

2019 EMAEHHRAE (T HRARER) - FAEAN RS S| AT IR RRKR

the director(s) of the Company
NAFIESE

Dr. Ko Lai Hung, the Chairman, an executive Director, the CEO, one of the Controlling
Shareholders, the spouse of Ms. Cheung and the father of Mr. CK Ko

SREET - FFEBTES  THRAH  ERBRRZ - RETZEBREEASL
ERIRER

electrical and mechanical

HE
the Company and its subsidiaries
RATREME AR

Hong Kong dollars or cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BFRAEEE BTGB

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
PEE A RAFMBEEARNTRE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIFITES
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GLOSSARY i

“Lightspeed”
[Lightspeed |

“Listing”
[ E7i ]

“Listing Date”
[ =7 B &)

“Listing Rules”
[ LR8N

“Main Board”
Ed

“Memorandum of Association”

[HE A E A2 K4
“Model Code”
[1Z2E<F A ]

“Mr. CK Ko"
[SEAERLE]

“Ms. Cheung”
[R& |

“MVAC”
[ R L I 22 SR T

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

“2021 Policy Address”
[2021F HEBURE |

“Register of Members”

[RER A i

“Remuneration Committee”

[FEE=]

"

FC”

[EEe

4]

f

Annual Report 2022

Lightspeed Limited, a company incorporated in BVI and the holding company of the
Company

Lightspeed Limited - —FRIREEEZHSTMK I H AR - BAAAINZERAR]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
PRED I EMR TR

18 October 2019, being the date of Listing
20194F10A18H + Bl L HER

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from
time to time

BERZ B A FHRA) - &TBHEET

the stock market operated by the Stock Exchange
B R FTEERIRE T %

the memorandum of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

AR B NEERTH BB EIZ KM

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
AR AN SR PAES BT AN ESETE SR HHIRESTE

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit, a non-executive Director and a son of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung

BEELE  FRTESESBLTERLLZR T

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan, an executive Director, one of the Controlling Shareholders, the
spouse of Dr. Ko and the mother of Mr. CK Ko
REMUL  AITESF  ERRERZ— ST 2RBRSEELENHER

mechanical ventilation and air-conditioning

PR R & 2= R ED

the nomination committee of the Board

EFxeR%%EBe

the 2021 Policy Address of the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Government
BBBUTEHEE2021 F RS

the register of members of the Company

AABRERAM

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFEeFMEES

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

FRRFLMEEBERZBE



"SFO"
[ 27 R AR 1B

“Share Offer”
[F&1D B |

“Share(s)”

[ &1
“Shareholder(s)"”
[f&% 2R

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P

“Year”

[AFE]

BREEZERERAT 20225548

GLOSSARY &=

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BEREENIFEST1EBH REEED

200,000,000 Shares were issued at a price of HK$0.73 per Share by way of public offer
and placing of the Shares
FRARBEEREERMD 2 7 REAR0.738 THIE#83£17200,000,000% A 5

share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company

AR BAREAEEC.0VETT 2D

the holder(s) of Share(s)
f&EAE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMAERZMAERAR

the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HILFE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IEHME

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMNBLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT THBT THT THT
Revenue WA 547,315 508,904 522,332 312,732 210,804
Profit before taxation BREL AT &R 81,709 86,462 88,255 56,262 43,250
Income tax expense Frig R (13,729) (13,159) (15,600) (10,867) (7,181)
Profit for the year AEEHEA 67,980 73,303 72,655 45,395 36,069
Profit attributable to equity ARFERRR
shareholders of the Company ~ [E{&FI 68,181 73,303 72,655 45,395 36,069
FINANCIAL POSITIONS B HEAR R
As at 31 March
W3A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20216 20206 20195 20186
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THBT THBT THBT BT
Current assets HELE 430,033 436,502 304,028 137,903 139,193
Non-current assets FREBEE 13,879 30,105 63,194 12,445 9,545
Current liabilities HEARG 71,735 112,476 60,999 43217 97,535
Non-current liabilities e eIl 1,065 1,410 1,205 1,108 451
Net assets BEFE 371,112 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752
Total equity attributable to equity 272 BIEZEAY R
shareholders of the Company ~ [E{HER A% 371,302 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752
Total equity e 371,12 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752




BREEZERERAT 20225548

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Accel Group Holdings Limited, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the Year.

In the past year, the business environment has been on the slide due
to the recurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The local logistics and
shipping industries continued to be hit by the pandemic and the risk
of a disruption in the logistics supply chain has greatly increased.
In addition, inflationary pressures arising from the economic relief
measures of various countries has become increasingly intensified,
and international political tensions have caused a continuous
increase in raw material prices and a rapid increase in operating
costs, placing a heavy burden on the Group’s finances. Nevertheless,
with our professional ability of project management in the electrical
and mechanical field, the Group devoted considerable effort to
control the project cost and ensure that the progress of the project
would not be affected by the pandemic to the greatest extent during
the Year. The Group strives to work together to achieve our success.
This Year recorded a growth in operating income as compared to
the same period in 2021, and the net profit was also higher than last
year’s net profit after excluding the government’s one-time subsidy
income, and the underlying operating condition continued to grow.

The Group has been striving to strengthen cost control, improve
quality management and actively expand its business. We have
successfully obtained a number of large-scale E&M projects during
the Year, including several large-scale electrical and mechanical
installation projects in the Kai Tak Development. The Group's
outstanding contract amount also reached a record high of over $1
billion, which shows that our customers’ recognition of our ability
of project management. We will continue to maintain our business
development and enhance our ability to acquire new projects to lay
a solid foundation for our business development.

EEHRE

HEBRR :

RAZRUARRSHEERZERBRAREEE K
RREANEEAFENFERS

BE—F HORBRERE  2BREELD
T o AR EAEXRFERIRIGITE - R
HEBEHHRORERAKNES - B - SELEET
sl R IRE ) AENE - BRBUA
EREWRVHERFELE - LEXAZE L
Tt BARKE 2 MHEBRONERE o MRt
BREBMNBERICEXBBEEES » A%
BRERZ R TRAAL SAREERTE
ERELXEBTE - KEIKET—0 - KA
EHE - NFEHEERAR2021F R EAESIE
£ 0 BDFAE IRE S MRR BN — IR M G U
ANRZFNERR  ENEEREERTIER -

o

REE—BEHIREHRA - ZHEEEIE
WIEIBER RS - HPRDRFAREX ZIHAL
BETRAL  EFERZEMNHEERRZ
RANEERELZERY - AEEZATRADE
BMATREFEHSER HET  RAERSTERPY
BIVRBEEENZBE » RITSHERT ER
RS RAEERIRE 2687 - RAKEEBE
RETEIER -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT I E#HRE

In addition, the Group is also actively developing diversified
businesses, in order to change the quality of human life by using
technology and make contribution to social, environmental and
governance aspects. During the Year, the Group has also actively
participated in anti-pandemic work, in order to contribute to the
society. The Group donated anti-pandemic kits to all sectors of the
society to help fight against the pandemic and give back to the
society. Meanwhile, the Group is also actively involved in scientific
research by supporting universities to develop technological
applications and integrating the results of scientific research
into human life. The Group is also honored to be appointed as a
founding member of the GBA Carbon Neutrality Association to
make contribution to the promotion of carbon neutrality business
in the Greater Bay Area. The Group will continue to integrate
energy saving and environmental protection technologies into
our electrical and mechanical systems, thereby reducing carbon
emissions and making our buildings more environmentally friendly
and comfortable.

Ko Lai Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022

RO REBTERFEAZ TER - BRARK
WEABLRERNEME  RE  EATEE
HERL - FR - AEEMERSERTIE - B
HERE—0N AEEBREIReRTERR
RO D EURNS - RIELE - B - AEER
BB E AR R E R ERRRRAR
MIIE BRI REAABRLEEZF - AEE
IR EREBER AN E RIS M RIS
8 - RN EREPMEFLRER - NEH
AR ERERRRMARERRE S - 1M
DHRPN - SEEYFIRR - BETE

T
[k 3

Ei& - 202256 A28H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established E&M engineering services provider.
The Group’s major business involves the supply, installation and
maintenance of MVAC systems, drainage systems, water supply,
swimming pool and fountain systems, electrical and control
systems as well as smart electrical control systems in buildings. The
Group has been engaged by reputable property developers and
construction companies in Hong Kong to complete several iconic
projects. The Group will continue to strive to provide excellent E&M
engineering services to the Group's customers.

Looking back at the Year, the local and global economies have
continued to slow down because of the recurrence of the COVID-19
pandemic and geopolitical tensions. The inflation and the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic have posed enormous challenges to
local productivity. The Group has adopted a positive and pragmatic
attitude towards relevant risks, sought collaborative solutions,
strengthened the management of project quality, and enhanced the
ability of controlling the costs and budgets.

Excluding the one-off Employment Support Scheme subsidy from
the Hong Kong government, the Group has maintained a steady
business growth during the Year. The Group was granted a number
of large-scale E&M projects during the Year, including several large-
scale E&M installation projects in the Kai Tak Development. The
Group will maintain the advantage of the Group in sustainable
development and enhance our ability to acquire new projects to lay
a solid foundation for our business development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$38,411,000 or
7.5% from approximately HK$508,904,000 for the Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$547,315,000 for the Year. The increase
was mainly contributed by the ongoing residential projects located in
Kai Tak and Tai Po and a commercial project located in Wong Chuk
Hang. Also, certain newly awarded residential projects located in the
Kai Tak Development commenced in early 2022 contributed to the
increase in revenue for the Year.

BEEE WKk

LR

REE R —HELEANKE TRRGHER -
REENEBZH AR - ZERRBEEWBER
RZERBERS - BKERL - K - OB REK
MER - ENMNERRRMEFTERLELRRSE -
AEEERSERMERRANMZEREAN
TRZERKRMEEETRIAR - AEEBEER
WRAKENEFRIEERE TIRR -

EEAFE ARk e2HEEREHERSRIE
RE NG BT BRI ERE - ME LR
BRERBEFESTMEENTRERKE - K
SENEREEREHEERRR  SRAEHR
WARTTER - WIRTIRE8EIR © RITKATR
BEHlEES -

R BB — IR IMERFLFMRL - AERBRAFE
ENRFEBIZERE - AEERANFEERS
AARKERE - AR ERBERREREEE
REZAZBETEREIERR - AEEBSRES
AEEARER R ZEDL REFERFIRR 26
h REGERETEREER -

Bt %% [ g8

Y =

A B Y B EF R 4 508,904,000 7% Jt 1
hn#)38,411,000 8 T 75% E R FEEMHH
547,315,000/ 7T - BEIEINEZEHMUARRIER
AW IEEETHEEEE MIREI AN —ERE
¥EEEE o N UARERRERAE THE
FEHEBR202FVHE » BBt T AFEHIK

S -

11



12

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B EiTim R o4

Cost of services

The Group's cost of services mainly represented (i) cost of materials
including MVAC systems such as air conditioners and ventilation fans
and accessories such as pipes and fittings; and (ii) subcontracting
fees for completing on-site works. The cost of services increased
by approximately HK$33,499,000 or 8.2% from approximately
HK$406,302,000 for the Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$439,801,000 for the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$4,912,000
or 4.8% from approximately HK$102,602,000 for the
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$107,514,000 for the Year.

The Group's gross profit margin slightly decreased by 0.6% to
19.6% for the Year as compared with the Corresponding Year of
20.2%. The decrease in the gross profit margin was mainly due
to the fact that a substantial amount of revenue of the Year were
recognised from certain new projects commenced during the Year
with a lower profit margin.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, travelling and
transportation expenses, rental and building management fees,
professional fees, office expenses, depreciation expenses and other
expenses. Administrative expenses increased by HK$878,000 or
3.5% from approximately HK$25,135,000 for the Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$26,013,000 for the Year. The increase in
administrative expenses of the Group was mainly due to the increase
in office expenses incurred to improve the working environment and
depreciation expenses of certain newly acquired assets. The Group
believes it can increase its productivity to grasp the opportunities in
the post-pandemic era.

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments increased
by approximately HK$16,895,000 or 27.6% from approximately
HK$61,236,000 as at 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$78,131,000 as at 31 March 2022.

i N
REBOREKAEBIROM KA  BIE#
WMBERERAGNESG - FlanEE - BEE
BUARGE REM  R)THRIRISETENS
BE o RIEKA A ZF K 49406,302,000/8 7T
1% 1 #733,499,0008 7L 5k 8.2% E AR FE K &Y
439,801,000 7T °

EFREF=E

AEEMEFAEFH 102,602,000 % 7T
AN 474,912,000 T 54.8% EARFE L
107,514,000/ 7T, °

AEBMEF R EFH20.2%BEMURL0.6%
EXFEM19.6% o BEFERDIEEHRARF
BEAHFD RS BAFERBE TESEEEMNEN
HIEBFTE °

THREX

THHAYTEREETIRA ZRESEE -
e hEFEEE HEBH WAZERZ
WERYXEREMAL - THRASXHEFNY
25,135,000 7T 3% 11878,000 5 JT 5 3.5% & A&
FEHI#26,013,000/87C - NEBRITTER 18
MEZERARE TERBEMEENRAZERS
METHBEENITERSILMAE - AEEHE
EHAEMEAE UM BB R BRRERZE
g}é °

B RHMBWRIER RERBANRE

ESRHEMERIE e kEMRERH
202143 A 31 B #4961,236,000 % 7T # i1 4
16,895,000/ 7T 8 27.6% 2202243 A31 B Y4
78,131,000/ 7T °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIE &

Trade receivables (net of allowance of credit losses) increased
by approximately HK$9,080,000 or 17.9% from approximately
HK$50,716,000 as at 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$59,796,000 as at 31 March 2022. The increase was due to
significant amount of revenue certified by the customers at the end
of the Year in accordance with the relevant projects’ construction
schedules.

Prepayments for purchase of materials and subcontracting fees
increased by approximately HK$4,811,000 or 72.5% from
approximately HK$6,637,000 as at 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$11,448,000 as at 31 March 2022. The significant increase was
mainly due to the prepayment paid to various suppliers for securing
the material supply for the Group's projects on hand.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of E&M engineering services, which
arise when: (i) the Group completes the relevant services under
such contracts but not yet certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers; and (ii) the customers
withhold certain certified amounts payable to the Group as retention
money (i.e. retention receivables) to secure the due performance of
the contracts. Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation
to transfer of E&M engineering services to customers for which the
Group has received advance payments from the customers.

Contract assets increased by approximately HK$19,800,000 or
13.5% from approximately HK$146,592,000 as at 31 March 2021
to approximately HK$166,392,000 as at 31 March 2022. The
increase in contract assets was mainly due to: (i) the increase in
retention receivables as a result of increase in number of ongoing
and completed contracts under the defects liability period during the
Year; and (ii) increase in the size of contract works that the relevant
services were completed but has not yet been certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers at the
end of the reporting period.

Contract liabilities increased by approximately HK$8,218,000 or
369.0% from approximately HK$2,227,000 as at 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$10,445,000 as at 31 March 2022. The increase
in contract liabilities was mainly due to advances received from
customers for certain new projects which were at their initial stage
at the end of the reporting period.

SREBEERERA 20225 F 4R

RE)S S

B SRR (IR EEEERE)R20214F3A4
31 B#Y4950,716,000/%8 JT3E HN%J9,080,0007%8 7T
8 17.9% £ 202243 A 31 HH 459,796,000 %
T BRAEMDBRBERFRAFERIZE R
TR EEFE 2 BB LIRRIBEARBIG N
@( °

BEMBOENRIBEES B2 EH2021F3H31
H &9 496,637,000/%8 7T 1% h1 474,811,000 jT X
72.5%%20229F3HA31BH4711,448,0007 7T °
BEANBIE N EERARRZEAHERZSTER
FRIEDAREIR AN B F 2818 B oA RHLFE -

Ellqﬁjs&ﬁﬁ
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Pledged bank balances and bank balances and
cash

The Group’s pledged bank balances were to secure the grant of
performance bonds to the Group by a bank. The pledged bank
balances and bank balances and cash decreased by approximately
HK$58,788,000 or 24.1% from approximately HK$243,860,000
as at 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$185,072,000 as at
31 March 2022. The decrease was mainly due to the payment of
interim dividend during the Year and the changes in working capital
for the newly awarded projects.

The pledged bank balances and bank balances and cash were
denominated in HKD and were mainly generated from the Group’s
daily operations. With a strong financial position, the Group is able
to provide sufficient financial resources for the Group's current
commitments, working capital requirements and further expansion
of the Group’s business, as and when required.

Trade and retention payables and accruals

Trade and retention payables and accruals decreased by
approximately HK$46,744,000 or 51.5% from approximately
HK$90,683,000 as at 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$43,939,000 as at 31 March 2022.

Trade payables decreased by approximately HK$46,811,000 or
67.0% from approximately HK$69,914,000 as at 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$23,103,000 as at 31 March 2022. The decrease
was mainly due to the fifth wave of COVID-19 outbreak in Hong
Kong which caused delays of certain projects progress near the end
of the Year.

Retention payables decreased by approximately HK$335,000 or
2.7% from approximately HK$12,564,000 as at 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$12,229,000 as at 31 March 2022. The decrease
was mainly due to the release of retention monies to the Group's
sub-contractors for projects completed during the Year.

Bank loans

Bank loans decreased by approximately HK$481,000 or 3.2%
from approximately HK$15,022,000 as at 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$14,541,000 as at 31 March 2022. There is
no seasonality on the Group’s bank loans and the balances were
denominated in HKD.
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According to the relevant bank facilities letters, details of the bank
loans of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:

SEEBEEZERERDT  202FFH

REC S

$ETF$BE§$ETT@$§|_M¢ REER202243 A31
BRRITERERBOT

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2022 2021

2022F 20214F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

Within one year —FR 14,479 14,815
Within a period of more than one year —F LA BT HEAMRF

but not exceeding two years HAA 62 145
Within a period of more than two years ML LB HBARF

but not exceeding five years i - 62

14,541 15,022

The Group’s bank loans as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were lent by
a bank under its bank facilities granted to the Group.

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid bank
facilities, the bank may at any time without prior notice, modify,
cancel or suspend the banking facilities, at the sole discretion of
such bank; including, without limitation, cancelling any unutilised
facilities and declaring any outstanding amount to be immediately
due and payable. Accordingly, the above bank loans were classified as
current liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2022 was a bank loan
of HK$206,000 (2021: HK$347,000), which bore variable interest
rate at 2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the
relevant bank (2021: variable interest rate at 2% per annum below
Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the relevant bank). The remaining
bank loan as at 31 March 2022 bore variable interest rate at 1.5%
per annum above one-month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") (2021: variable interest rate at 1.5% per annum above
one-month HIBOR).
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group will further expand its service capabilities and capture
business opportunities to reinforce its position in the E&M
engineering industry. The Group will provide customers with more
comprehensive E&M engineering services, increase its market
share with a prudent financial management strategy. As a result
of the continuous hard work by the management, the Group has
obtained 16 projects with a total contract sum of approximately
HK$709,357,000 for the Year. The Group’s projects on hand yet to
recognise reached a new record high of over HK$1,000,000,000 as
at 31 March 2022. Going forward, the Group will continue to make
the most of its advantages and actively participate in tendering and
ensuring stable growth of the Group’s business. At the same time,
the Group will actively look for new businesses opportunities and
bring better returns to the Shareholders.

As announced in the 2021 Policy Address, the Hong Kong
Government will continue to invest in infrastructure and develop the
“Twin Cities, Three Circles” layout led by Northern Metropolis in
the New Territories. The Group will seize the business opportunities
in the post-pandemic economy, by building on its foundation in
providing quality E&M engineering services, and venture into new
areas of innovation and technology, smart technology, energy
conservation and environmental protection while expanding its
diversified business in the construction area. In addition, based on
business development needs, the Group will identify prospective
business partners and joint venture opportunities for different
business segments to broaden the Group’s business scope and drive
cross-border development, thereby generating greater returns for
the Shareholders.

In the field of innovation and technology, the Group has established
“Accel — The Education University of Hong Kong Joint Laboratory of
Metaverse and Human-computer Interaction” to implement various
research product designs and make contribution to the realization
of new informatized and intellectualized forms of community with
artificial intelligence, to enhance the quality result of education and
provide a more convenient way of learning, and to fully support the
government in promoting and developing the scientific research
sector in Hong Kong, thereby generating brand new business
opportunities for the Group’s future operations.
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In terms of environmental protection and energy conservation,
reducing carbon emissions and energy consumption as well as
facing the impacts of climate change has become a global issue. The
Chinese government has already stipulated the targets in reaching
carbon peak in 2030 and carbon neutrality in 2060 in the 14th Five-
Year Plan. It was also announced in the 2021 Policy Address that
Hong Kong would strive to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 and
would update the “Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan”. As a key
player in the industry of the installation of E&M systems, the Group
carries the responsibility to protect the ecosystem, and to ensure
environmental protection while promoting growth and development
of the society. The Group has been appointed as a founding
member of GBA Carbon Neutrality Association, devoting our effort
to promote the carbon neutral business in the Greater Bay Area.
The Group endeavours to incorporate energy saving technologies
and renewable energy into E&M systems to achieve low-carbon
transformation and develop green economy. The Group will actively
look for partners to promote plans for energy conservation and
emissions reduction in Hong Kong, striving to attain carbon peak
and carbon neutrality targets, and lay the foundation for the Group’s
intelligent E&M business through utilising innovative technologies
and the concept of intelligent energy.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group's working capital was financed by
internal resources, loan facilities from banks and the net proceeds
from the Share Offer. The current ratio of the Group, which is
calculated based on the current assets divided by current liabilities,
was approximately 5.99 times as at 31 March 2022 (31 March
2021: approximately 3.88 times). The Group generally financed its
daily operations from cash flows generated internally and external
borrowings. The Group strikes to maintain a healthy financial
position to support the business growth by balancing the source of
financing.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of the
trade and retention payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
interest-bearing liabilities divided by the total equity (defined as
the sum of bank loans and lease liabilities as at the respective
year end divided by total equity as at the respective year end)
was approximately 4.9% as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021:
approximately 5.5%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group incurred cash outflows of approximately
HK$489,000 in leasehold improvements and furniture, fixtures
and equipment (Corresponding Year: HK$423,000 in leasehold
improvements, motor vehicles and furniture, fixtures and
eguipment).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2022, the capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial statements is HK$353,000 (31
March 2021: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, performance bonds of HK$67,542,000 (2021:
HK$83,587,000) were given by banks in favour of the Group’s
customers as security for the due performance and observance of
the Group's obligations under the contracts entered into between
the Group and its customers.

Included in the performance bonds as at 31 March 2022 were
HK$39,159,000 (2021: HK$57,442,000), which were issued under
the bank facilities granted by a bank to the Group and such bank
facilities were secured by the Group's pledged bank balances and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the bank.
The remaining performance bonds as at 31 March 2022 were issued
under the bank facilities granted by another bank to the Group and
such bank facilities were secured by the Group’s carpark space and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the bank.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: Nil).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 June 2022, Ascend as purchaser entered into a provisional
sale and purchase agreement with Yip Ping Hau as vendor for the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Best Investment
Development Limited (a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and is wholly owned by Yip Ping Hau, an independent
third party of the Group) at the consideration of HK$61,828,000.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 June 2022.

Save as disclosed, there was no material subsequent event after 31
March 2022 up to the date of this report which requires disclosure.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, certain motor vehicles, refundable rental
deposits, the carpark space and pledged bank balances of the Group
were pledged for the lease liabilities and the bank facilities (31
March 2021: secured by certain motor vehicles, refundable rental
deposits, the carpark space and pledged bank balances).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investments,
material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, save as disclosed herein, the Group did not
have any other plans for significant investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in HKD. The Group is not significantly
exposed to foreign currency risk arising from monetary assets
and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.
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The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be insignificant.
However, the management will continue to closely monitor the
Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure when necessary.

CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE

The Group’s major customers include reputable property developers
and main contractors. During the Year, the Group has closely
monitored and strengthened its collection measures, and has
adopted prudent credit policies to mitigate credit risk exposure.
The Group was not exposed to any significant credit risk during
the Year. The Group’s management reviews the recoverability of
trade receivables and closely monitors the financial position of the
customers from time to time with a view of keeping the Group’s
credit risk exposure at a reasonably low level.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 184 employees (31
March 2021: 162 employees) with total staff costs (including direct
labour costs) of approximately HK$80,342,000 incurred for the
Year (Corresponding Year: approximately HK$75,739,000). In
order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operation within the Group, the remuneration policy and package
of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed. The salary
and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are competitive
(with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications
and experience). The Group provides adequate job training to the
employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills. Apart
from mandatory provident fund and job training programs, salaries
increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual performance
and market situation.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions or potential contributions to the
Group. Such scheme became effective on 18 October 2019.
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CORPORATE RECOGNITION

Other than the “Forbes Asia’s 200 Best Under A Billion” awarded
and being selected as a constituent stock of the MSCI Hong Kong
Micro Cap Index in the year of 2021, the Group has been further
awarded the “Listed Enterprises of the Year 2021"” by Bloomberg
Businessweek and “The Top 100 Hong Kong Listed Companies
Awards” as recognitions of the Group’s operating performance and
development potential.

In the area of corporate social responsibility, the Group has received
the Outstanding Social Caring Organisation Award from the Social
Enterprise Research Academy in 2021. The Group has also received
the Corporate Environmental Leadership Award from the Federation
of Hong Kong Industries and has been appointed as a founding
member of GBA Carbon Neutrality Association in recognition of
the Group’s performance in the field of energy conservation and
environmental protection. The Group will continue to improve its
service quality, adhere to the required safety and environmental
standards, and take the Group’s corporate social responsibilities
commitment to the next level in order to deliver excellent E&M
services to the Group's customers.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders or their close associates was interested in any business
which competed or might compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group nor had or might have with the Group
any conflicts of interest.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Share Offer were approximately
HK$125,345,000. The net proceeds have been fully utilised during
the Year in the manner disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 27 September 2019. Set out below is the actual use of net
proceeds up to 31 March 2022:

REREAR

{517 3% & Y AT 15 SR ) F B8 49 125,345,000 7T ©
PSR FRE R A AR HEIA2019F9A27H
ZHRRERAHE A ARNAFEREBA - TXH
HIEE2022F3A31BFEFIBFRRERRE ¢

Utilised net
proceeds
during the
Estimated period from the Net proceeds Utilised net
proceeds Listing Date to utilised during  proceeds up to
Intended application allocation 31 March 2021 the Year 31 March 2022
REWRHEZE
2021%3A318 BEZ2022F
13152 REFEZ 3A3182
RS EBARE EBRME e8RS
SESE SIEFH HERE NERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt Tt 7
Purchasing performance bonds ~ EBEBAIRES 43,120 43,120 - 43,120
MVAC procurement costs KHBERZE R REN R 59,290 59,290 - 59,290
Hiring additional staff BEET 11,660 8,721 2,939 11,660
General working capital —REEES 11,275 11,275 - 11,275
Total @it 125,345 122,406 2,939 125,345
FINAL DIVIDEND RIS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK cents 2.1 per Share (2021: HK cents 4.1 per Share)
for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members on Wednesday, 21
September 2022, which amount to approximately HK$16,800,000
(2021: HK$32,800,000). Subject to the passing of the relevant
resolution at the forthcoming 2022 AGM, the Final Dividend is
expected to be paid to the Shareholders on or around Thursday, 13
October 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to 2022 AGM

The Register of Members will be closed from Monday, 5 September
2022 to Thursday, 8 September 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfers of Shares shall be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the 2022 AGM, all transfers
of Shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with the Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged before 15
August 2022), or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on or after 15
August 2022) no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 September 2022.

In relation to the proposed Final Dividend

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the Final Dividend by the Shareholders at the 2022
AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Monday, 19
September 2022 to Wednesday, 21 September 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of Shares shall be
effected. In order to qualify for the Final Dividend, all transfers of
Shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms, must be lodged for registration with the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office of the Company, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged before 15
August 2022), or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on or after
15 August 2022) no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 September
2022.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung (5% #), aged 52, is the founder of our Group,
the Chairman, an executive Director, our CEO and one of our
Controlling Shareholders. He joined our Group on 18 February 2000
and was appointed as a Director on 20 September 2018. Dr. Ko was
appointed as the Chairman and the CEO, and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 24 January 2019. He is also a member
of our Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He
is responsible for the overall strategic planning, management and
administration of our Group’s business operations. Dr. Ko is currently
a director of Ascend, AGT, AGD and Chit Tat. Dr. Ko is the spouse
of Ms. Cheung, an executive Director, and the father of Mr. CK Ko,
the non-executive Director. Dr. Ko is also a director and shareholder
of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Dr. Ko obtained an honorary degree of doctor of business
administration from the Westcliff University in March 2021 in
recognising his managerial and professional experience in the E&M
engineering industry, as well as his community contribution. Dr. Ko
has been appointed as vice president of the GBA Carbon Neutrality
Association and the deputy director of Carbon Neutrality Committee
of China Energy Conversation Association for his contribution to
the China’s determination, goals, initiatives and effectiveness in
combating climate change.

Dr. Ko has accumulated over 30 years of experience in the E&M
engineering industry in Hong Kong. Prior to founding the Group,
he was the proprietor of Chit Tat Engineering Co, which was mainly
involved in the provision of electrical engineering services in Hong
Kong, from 1995 to 2006. With his extensive industry experience,
Dr. Ko founded, together with other industry players, Hong Kong
Air Conditioning Construction Association Limited (& 7 22 8 2 &
&€ A R 2 7)), a non-profit-making organisation with a mission
of strengthening the connection and communication among air
conditioning contractors in Hong Kong in June 2018. He has been
leading the association as the president and one of the directors
of the association since founding the association. Chit Tat is also a
member of this association.
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Ms. Cheung Mei Lan (3R 32 8), aged 52, is an executive Director
and one of our Controlling Shareholders. She joined our Group on
18 February 2000 and was appointed as a Director on 20 September
2018. Ms. Cheung was re-designated as an executive Director on 24
January 2019. She is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
management and administration of our Group’s business operations.
Ms. Cheung is currently a director of Ascend and Chit Tat. She is the
spouse of Dr. Ko, an executive Director and the mother of Mr. CK
Ko, the non-executive Director. Ms. Cheung is also a director and
shareholder of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Since the incorporation of Chit Tat, Ms. Cheung has accumulated
more than 18 years of experience in the E&M engineering industry
in Hong Kong. She has been a director of Chit Tat since 2000.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit (S1%#££), aged 28, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 24 January 2019. He is a member of our
Audit Committee. Mr. CK Ko is responsible for advising on business
development and planning of our Group. Mr. CK Ko is a son of Dr.
Ko and Ms. Cheung, both being executive Directors.

Mr. CK Ko graduated from the University of Rochester in the
United States with a master’s degree in finance and The University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in economics and finance
in December 2016 and November 2015, respectively. He became
a member of the Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst
Association in November 2017. Mr. CK Ko has been a SFC licensed
representative of Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities in Hong Kong since June 2018
and May 2020, respectively. He has been working in Bright Minds
Capital Limited from September 2017 to May 2022 and his last
position as assistant vice president. He joined Everest Ventures
Group in May 2022 as director of capital markets. He founded Erth
Limited, a start-up green lifestyle company incorporated in Hong
Kong in November 2017, and has been a director of it since then.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (B & ) (“Mr. CT Chan”), aged 72, was
appointed as an INED on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson
of our Nomination Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and our Remuneration Committee. Mr. CT Chan is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CT Chan has over 32 years of work experience in the Inland
Revenue Department. His last position was assistant commissioner
before he retired in 2005. Mr. CT Chan graduated from the Central
Queensland University in Australia with a master’s degree in financial
management in October 1995 through distance learning. He has
been an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
of London, the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries) since March 1974 and August 1994,
respectively. Mr. CT Chan has also been a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (formerly known as the
Hong Kong Society of Accountants) since March 1986; a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known
as the Association of Certified Accountants) since November 1983;
and a fellow of CPA Australia (formerly known as the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants) since June 1990.

Mr. CT Chan has been the sole director of C T Tax Consultants
Limited, a tax consultancy, since August 2006. Further, Mr. CT
Chan has been an independent non-executive director of each of
Medicskin Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8307), Hyfusin Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8512), Chong Fai Jewellery Group
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as Dominate Group
Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code: 8537), Ye Xing Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1941) and Wasion Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 3393) since December 2014, June 2018, September
2018, February 2020 and June 2020, respectively. He was an
independent non-executive director of Guangdong Tannery Limited
(Stock Code: 1058) from March 2006 to June 2020; Noble Jewelry
Holdings Limited (currently known as Central Development Holdings
Limited) (Stock Code: 475) from October 2006 to December 2011;
Wasion Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3393) from May 2014 to May
2015; and Man Sang International Limited (Stock Code: 938) from
January 2015 to December 2016.
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Ms. Tse Ka Wing (#358), aged 38, was appointed as an INED on
18 September 2019. She is the chairperson of our Audit Committee.
Ms. Tse is responsible for providing independent advice to our
Board.

Ms. Tse obtained an associate of business administration degree in
accountancy and a bachelor of business administration degree in
accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November
2004 and November 2006, respectively. She also obtained a master
of corporate governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in September 2018. She has been a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) since November
2018. In addition, Ms. Tse has been a member and a certified public
accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2011 and March 2014, respectively.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tse has accumulated over 15 years
of financial and accounting experience. She worked as an auditor in
Andrew Tse & Company from September 2006 to February 2008.
Thereafter, she served BDO Limited for five years with her last
position as assistant manager (assurance) from February 2008 to
November 2013. In November 2013, Ms. Tse joined Union Honor
International Enterprise Limited as an assistant accounting manager,
and then worked in HKUE Limited from November 2014 to March
2016 with her last position as financial controller. Subsequently,
Ms. Tse served as the financial controller and company secretary at
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (Stock Code: 8023) from March
2016 to December 2017. Ms. Tse worked in Skyway United Limited
from March 2018 to January 2021 and her last position was
chief financial officer and company secretary. She joined YONXI
International Finance Holdings Limited in February 2021 as a chief
financial officer and company secretary.
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Mr. Ho Chi Shing ({1 & &), aged 70, was appointed as an INED
on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Ho is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Ho graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
of science degree in engineering, a postgraduate diploma in software
engineering, a master of business administration and a postgraduate
certificate in laws in November 1976, January 1989, November 1991
and June 2011, respectively. He also obtained a graduate diploma
in English and Hong Kong law (common professional examination)
and a bachelor of laws from The Manchester Metropolitan University
in July 2008 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Ho was admitted as a
member of the Institution of Electrical Engineers in November 1981.
He has been: (i) a Chartered Engineer of the Council of Engineering
Institutions since February 1982; (ii) a member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers since July 1985; and (iii) a member of the
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers (formerly known
as the Chartered Institution of Building Services) since April 1982
and a fellow of it since March 2004. He practised as a Barrister-at-
law from October 2012 to December 2014.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong. He worked in China Light & Power Company Limited
from September 1976 to October 1979 with his last position as
a second engineer of the sub-station design department. He had
served the Hong Kong Housing Authority for about 32 years from
October 1979 to September 2011 with his last position held as the
chief building services engineer. He had been an honorary advisor
for Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited from October 2011 to October 2016. Mr. Ho
became a member of the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency's
governing council in 2005, and was appointed as deputy chairman
in November 2011 and chairman in November 2019. Mr. Ho has
been working at BEAM Society Limited as a general manager since
March 2014. He had been appointed as a part-time lecturer of
Tsinghua Research Institute Shenzhen from 2011 to 2016, and he
also served in Shenzhen Audencia Business School in 2018 as part-
time lecturer. He is currently an Adjunct Associate Professor of The
University of Hong Kong, a post he took up since 2019 after serving
as an honorary principal lecturer since mid-2010’s in the Department
of Electrical and Electronic Engineering of The University of Hong
Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Chi Wai (#8312), aged 36, is our chief financial officer
and Company Secretary. He joined our Group in August 2019 as
financial controller and is responsible for overseeing our Group’s
financial operations and the overall corporate governance of our
Group.

Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from
the Edinburgh Napier University and currently studying Master of
Business Administration in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an Associate of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants.

Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in finance and auditing,
corporate governance and compliance matters for companies listed
in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, he worked at Rocky Shek
& Co. from 2011 to 2013 as an auditor. From 2013 to 2015, he
worked at BDO Limited as senior associate and worked at Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu from 2015 to 2019 with his last position as an
audit manager.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak (#k2R18), aged 53, is a project director of our Group.
He joined our Group in December 2015 as a project manager and
was subsequently promoted to senior project manager and project
director in February 2017 and January 2019, respectively. Mr. Lam
is primarily responsible for the overall management of our Group'’s
E&M engineering projects.

Mr. Lam obtained a higher diploma in mechanical engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1994. He has over 20 years of
experience in the construction industry. Before joining our Group,
Mr. Lam worked in Kervin Engineering Co., Ltd. from October 1993
to November 2012 with his last position held as project manager.
He also served as the project manager of Pyrofoe Air-Conditioning &
Electrical Co., Ltd. from December 2012 to October 2015.

SREEE

BERBELE 3657 ARMANERVBERA
AIRE o WN2019FE8 AMARNEBE TR
B BEREBRAEEMNGTHEENANEENEE
PEER -

BARERAREE T BMKARENGENE
S+24 - BAINEERIASHELRE RN
TEURE - RABTESHMASERNERE

REEEEIMASEE -

B AR R ER  CEERRBESLTA
RIAREENEABI0OFELR - RIMAREER
BT BR2011EFEE2013F R AEK SRS
FryE T2 BE o 2013 E 20155 » HRES
VEEReHMEKMARARETSAET
8 WH2015FE2019FE B2 e &R T 25t
BT I1E BB AT -

MRBEE 535 AAEEIHABE - FR
2015F N2 AMAREEEEIEE LB - Eign
RBIR2017F2 A R2019F 1 AE A ASFRBERK
BRIEBRE MEETEEEAEERETRE
HEMERERE -

MIEER1994F 11 ARVEEBE TS (IRE
AEBBTIAB)NEM TRESHUS - HRE
EEFEAB0FER - RIMAREE Z A - #
S HETA1993F 10 AR 2012 11 AEBNEET
BERAR  EREBUATBEEKLE - BITR
2012512 AE2015F 10 AEEE LR ARERT
EERARIMIERLIE -

29



30

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022

DIRECTORS” REPORT
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
70 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK cents 2.1 per Share for the Year to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Wednesday,
21 September 2022, amounting to approximately HK$16,800,000
(2021: HK cents 4.1 per Share, amounting to approximately
HK$32,800,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and
the discussion on the Group’s future business development are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, and the descriptions
of key financial performance indicators are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no significant
event affecting the Group that occurred since the end of the Year
and up to the date of this annual report which had materially
affected the Group’s operations and financial performance.
In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key
stakeholders, environmental policies and performance, compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group are as follows:

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
subcontractors and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as our important and valuable assets. The
objective of our human resource management is to reward and
recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a performance appraisal system with
appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and
progression by appropriate trainings and by providing opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.
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We regularly review our human resources and remuneration policies
in the light of legislation, industry practice, market conditions and
the performance of individuals and the Group in order to enhance
the job satisfaction of our staff.

Customers

Our principal customers are property developers and main
contractors in Hong Kong. We provide professional and quality
services in supply, installation and maintenance of MVAC systems,
whilst maintaining long term profitability, business and asset growth.

Subcontractors and suppliers

We firmly believe that our subcontractors and suppliers are equally
important in cost control and increasing their bargaining power on
procurement of materials, which further secures our competitiveness
when bidding for tenders. We proactively communicate with our
subcontractors and suppliers to ensure that they are committed to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services. Unless
the customers require us to engage subcontractors and suppliers
nominated by them, we shall select subcontractors and suppliers
from our approved lists of subcontractors and suppliers. In addition,
during the continuance of the contracts with the subcontractors,
we will provide them with our internal guidelines on safety and
environmental issues and require them to follow. We effectively
implement the subcontractor assessment process to monitor the
performance of our subcontractors by conducting regular site visits,
evaluation on the performance of the contract and other measures.

Environmental policies and performance

We believe that our business success also depends on our ability to
meet the customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality and
environmental aspects. To meet the aforesaid requirements, we have
established safety, quality and environmental management systems.
Through the systematic and effective control of its operations,
compliance with safety, quality and environmental requirements can
be further assured. We are fully engaged in the carbon reduction
programme in order to promote green production. We are a
founding member of GBA Carbon Neutrality Association and have
been awarded the Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards
from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in recognition of our
contribution in carbon reduction.

The detailed environmental policies and performance evaluation of
us during the Year will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company, which will be published on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website separately in
due course.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

We mainly undertake E&M engineering services in Hong Kong, the
Directors confirmed that during the Year, the Group had obtained
all the registrations and certifications required for its business
and operations and had complied with the applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, in all material respects.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial position and prospects. The
Group has been focusing on the control of risks and uncertainties
with the aim of understanding and addressing the concerns of
stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are
listed below:

- the revenue is mainly derived from E&M engineering projects
which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure of our
Group to secure new projects would affect our operations and
financial results;

- error or inaccurate estimation of project execution timeframe
or project costs may result in cost overruns and may adversely
affect our revenue and profitability;

- reliance on the major customers;

- the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors such as variation orders and the
recoverability of contract assets, and the past revenue and
profit margin may not be indicative of our future financial
performance; and

- may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets, if
progress payment or retention money is not paid in full and on
time, the liquidity position may be adversely affected.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$231,012,000 (including share premium
available for distribution amounting to HK$195,606,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 73 of this annual report and note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing
Mr. Ho Chi Shing

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, Mr. Ho Chi Shing and Mr. Chan Cheong Tat shall retire
at the 2022 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for
re-election.

Information regarding the Directors’ and chief executive's
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

For details of the Directors’ profiles, please see the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and has duly reviewed the confirmation of
independence of each of the INEDs. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all of the INEDs continue to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company with an initial term of 3 years, commencing from
18 September 2019. None of the Directors who are proposed for
election or re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (a) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or () notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in the Shares
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity Nature of interests Shares held  shareholding
EEpA 54 EmtE iR 88 FE R LE I
Dr. Ko (Note) Interest in controlled corporation  Corporate interest 600,000,000 75%
SEL () RESEEE R EE RS 600,000,000 75%
Ms. Cheung (Note) Interest of spouse Family interest 600,000,000 75%
o2z £ (FIaE) foiBtEss NI 600,000,000 75%

Note: The 600,000,000 Shares are held by Lightspeed, which is beneficially
owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms. Cheung. Under the SFO,
Dr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lightspeed
and Ms. Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, is deemed to be interested in the
Shares deemed to be held by Dr. Ko.
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Long position in the ordinary shares of an
associated corporation

Name of
associated
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Number of Percentage of

Name of Directors  corporation Capacity Nature of interests shares held shareholding

iR HEEEEE 56 BmtE PR 2 B BB

Dr. Ko (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest

miEL(FE) Lightspeed BakA AR BER EAES R R kR 200 100%

Ms. Cheung (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest

Rt (B aE) Lightspeed BakA AN BER (EUNG ey eV 200 100%

Note: Lightspeed is the holding company of the Company and is an
associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms.
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (a) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
(b) recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as our Directors are aware, the
following entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company) who had, or were taken or deemed
to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the Shares
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Nature of Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholder (€] F-1414Y interests Shares held  shareholding
RERAMR -37) EEME FrERHEE REBD L
Lightspeed (Note) Beneficial owner Personal interest 600,000,000 75%
Lightspeed (Fif7E) EnEEA (BN F 600,000,000 75%

Note: Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms.
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had
not been notified by any other entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than
a Director or the chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
of the Company was approved for adoption pursuant to a written
resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing an incentive or reward to the
eligible participants for their contribution or potential contribution
to the Group. The Board is entitled at any time and from time to
time grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to any full-
time or part-time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of our
Group, and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents, advisers,
business partner or service providers who, in the sole opinion of our
Board has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The Directors
were authorised to grant options to subscribe for Shares and to
allot, issue and deal with the Shares pursuant to the exercise of
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and to take all such
steps as may be necessary and/or desirable to implement and give
effect to the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme
and the Share Option Scheme limit is 80,000,000 Shares, which
represented 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of this annual
report. The Share Option Scheme shall remain valid and effective
until the tenth anniversary of the Listing Date.

Unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general meeting,
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted to an eligible participant under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue within any 12-month period.
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
required to be approved by the INEDs. Unless otherwise approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules, the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and proposed to be
granted to a substantial shareholder or any INEDs or their respective
associates under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) shall not (i) exceed 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and (ii) have an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000, within
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant.
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The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum period
for which the option has to be held before it can be exercised, and
the period during which an option may be exercised. However, no
options shall be exercised ten years after they have been granted.
The subscription price of a Share in respect of a particular option
shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of
the grant of the option, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

An offer shall be made to any eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme by an offer document in such form as our Board may
from time to time determine, requiring such participant to undertake
to hold the option on the terms on which it is to be granted and to
be bound by the provisions of the Share Option Scheme. To accept
any options granted by the Company, the grantee is required to pay
a consideration of HK$1 on or before the last day of acceptance set
out in the relevant offer document.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to the date of this annual report, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year or as at 31 March 2022 was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions

During the Year, the Group has conducted the following continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Employment agreements between Chit Tat and
connected employees

Chit Tat continues to employ certain employees who are connected
persons of the Company following the Listing.
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Prior to Listing, on 10 September 2019, Chit Tat entered into
supplemental written employment contracts with certain connected
persons of the Company for a term of three years upon Listing (the
“Connected Employee Employment Contracts”). For further
details, please refer to the prospectus of the Company dated 27
September 2019.

During the Year, Chit Tat continued to employ Mr. Cheung Choi On,
Mr. Wong Kai Chau, Ms. Ko Karlie, Mr. Wong Hau Wai, Ms. Wong
Hoi Yan and Ms. Wong Hoi Ki (the “Connected Employees”).

The Connected Employees are either siblings or relatives of the three
Directors, Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Mr. CK Ko. The details of their
relationships with the Directors are set out as follows:

Name Connected relationship
=L ERR

Mr. Cheung Choi On

RERTHE
MIE °

Mr. Wong Kai Chau
Mr. CK Ko.

HERAERE

Ms. Ko Karlie

=Lt

Mr. Wong Hau Wai

HIRBRE

Ms. Wong Hoi Yan

=ILER L

Ms. Wong Hoi Ki

=EHL L

Each of the Connected Employees is a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the
Connected Employee Employment Contracts constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As (i) the Connected Employees are either siblings or
relatives of the three Directors, Ms. Cheung, Dr. Ko and Mr. CK
Ko; and (ii) the nature of the Connected Employee Employment
Contracts are the same, such transactions shall be aggregated in
accordance with Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement published by the Company dated
30 March 2021 (the “Announcement”), the annual caps for the
two years ended 31 March 2022 were revised by the Board, in
which the aggregate remuneration being awarded to the Connected
Employees under the Connected Employee Employment Contracts
should not exceed (i) HK$3,320,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021; and (i) HK$3,500,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.

EEREBEZRERLT  2022FFH

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEEH %

ETRT 2019498108  EmRE THEY
BEAT L HAEEERGY  BH=F(H
EESRMEEN)) - BAE— TS B2HA
AR BEA2019F9 A27 AN BIRER -

RAFE @ EEEERAREL L BRUAL
£ REBZLT  ®BRELLE  ®IRKLRRE
BEZE((HERER]) -

MEREA=2EF(HNSEL RXIhkHE
BRI B L SR IEIR SRR © I E R E R MRR
EACE I UNNE

Mr. Cheung Choi On is a brother of Ms. Cheung, a brother-in-law of Dr. Ko
and an uncle of Mr. CK Ko.

RELREERRZTZEAF "Lt zRR  BREEREEZ
Mr. Wong Kai Chau is a brother-in-law of Ms. Cheung and an uncle of

BRBELEERRZLTZAR BREEFEEEZRA -

Ms. Ko Karlie is a niece of Dr. Ko and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
eRBZTASELTIEL INBEREEGRTEZEL I -

Mr. Wong Hau Wai is a nephew of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
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Ms. Wong Hoi Yan is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
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Ms. Wong Hoi Ki is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate remuneration
(including salaries and allowances, discretionary bonus and
retirement benefit scheme contributions) payable by the Group
to the Connected Employees under the Connected Employee
Employment Contracts amounted to approximately HK$3,139,000.

As disclosed in the announcement published by the Company dated
31 March 2022 (the “2022 Announcement”), Chit Tat terminated
the employment of each of the Connected Employees with effect
from 31 March 2022 and entered into the new employment
agreements (the “New Employment Agreements”) with each
of the Connected Employees. Pursuant to the New Employment
Agreements, each of the Connected Employees is employed under
the new terms. Under the New Employment Agreements, the
Connected Employees will continue to take up employment at their
respective role in the Group for a period of three years from 1 April
2022.

The annual caps, being the total remuneration payable to
the Connected Employees, will not exceed HK$4,000,000,
HK$4,400,000 and HK$4,840,000 for the 3 years ending 31
March 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, respectively
(the “Annual Caps”). The Annual Caps were determined by the
Directors with reference to the contractual amounts payable under
the New Employment Agreements and the expected adjustments in
their salaries during the relevant contractual period.

For details in relation to the New Employment Agreements, please
refer to the 2022 Announcement.

All the INEDs have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that such transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

With reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
auditor has confirmed in their letter to the Board that nothing has
come to their attention which caused them to believe that such
continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;
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(i)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(i) the aggregate amount paid by the Group in respect of such
continuing connected transactions has exceeded the annual
cap for the year ended 31 March 2022 as disclosed in the
Announcement.

Related party transactions

Details of the Group's related party transactions are disclosed in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save and except (i) the transactions specified in note 29(a)(1) and
(4); and (ii) the remuneration of the senior management members of
the Group forming part of the “Compensation of key management
personnel” described in note 29(b), all other transactions stated
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Group.

The transaction described in note 29(a)(5) to the consolidated
financial statements refers to the continuing connected transactions
regarding the Connected Employee Employment Contracts as
disclosed above in this section. Save as aforesaid, all other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions disclosed in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements are fully exempt from
reporting, annual review, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group as
disclosed in this report.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
(i) there was no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year; and (ii) there
was no other contracts of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into by the Group or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates had any interests in a
business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or
may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group which
would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

Non-competition undertaking

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group
and each of the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling
Shareholders as a covenantor (the “Covenantor”) has executed a
deed of non-competition (the "Deed”) in favour of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to
which, each of the Covenantors undertakes, inter alia, that it/he/she
will not, and will use its/his/her best endeavours to procure, its/his/
her close associates (other than any member of the Group) not to,
whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, participate
in or engage in any business which, directly or indirectly, competes
or may compete with the Group’s business. For details, please refer
to the prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2019.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that he/she/
it has complied with the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed during the Year. The INEDs have reviewed on their compliance
with the Deed and confirmed that (i) they were not aware of any
non-compliance of the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed by each of the Covenantors; and (ii) such undertakings had
been duly enforced and complied with by each of the Covenantors
during the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If
the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for its Directors and officers. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association were in force during the
Year and as at the date of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Board upon the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emolument of the Directors are determined by the
Board based on recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible persons, details of which are set out under the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit schemes are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association or
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and up to the date of
this report.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$105,000 (2021: HK$60,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 66.5% of the Group'’s
total revenue and the revenue from its largest customer accounted
for 22.0% of its total revenue.

In addition, the Group's purchases attributable to its five largest
suppliers accounted for 67.1% of the Group’s total purchases and
the purchases from its largest supplier accounted for 20.0% of its
total purchases.

During the Year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any
interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or the Group's
five largest suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any Shares during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 45 to
61 of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditor engaged by the Group, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment at the 2022 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Ko Lai Hung

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ values
through good corporate governance. The Directors recognise the
importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance
in the management structures, internal control and risk management
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in this report, has
complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company made specific enquiry of all Directors and they confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual
report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group’s corporate governance practices and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Memorandum of Association
and Articles of Association. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of these Board committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.
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Composition

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the
following six Directors, of which the INEDs in aggregate represent
50% of the Board members:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ko Lai Hung (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

INEDs

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing

Mr. Ho Chi Shing

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

Dr. Ko, the Chairman, an executive Director and the CEQ, is the
spouse of Ms. Cheung who is an executive Director. Dr. Ko and Ms.
Cheung are the parents of Mr. CK Ko, the non-executive Director.
Save as disclosed above, there was no financial, business, family or
other material relationship among the Directors during the Year.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Directors will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that
he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal
and regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

The Company from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide
the Company with their training records. According to the training
records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely Dr. Ko,
Ms. Cheung, Mr. CK Ko, Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, Ms. Tse Ka Wing
and Mr. Ho Chi Shing, had participated in continuous professional
development during the Year by reading newspapers, journals
and updates relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities and/or
attending training sessions organised by professional bodies in Hong
Kong.

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in a
reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include any
matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution at
the Board meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers will be
sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of
the Board meeting, or such other period as agreed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the Board meetings’ minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for their comment and record respectively
within a reasonable time after each Board meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The Board held five meetings during the Year and, amongst other
matters, considered and approved the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2021.

One general meeting of the Company was held during the Year.

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the
general meeting held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Dr. Ko 1N
Ms. Cheung R+
Mr. CK Ko SIEEELE
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZELE
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALL
Mr. Ho Chi Shing AT E

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a policy relating to Board diversity and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the same.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All the
appointments of the Board members shall be based on the positive
contribution to be brought by the proposed candidate to the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its affiliated companies. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Ko is the Chairman and the
CEO. He has been managing the Group’s business and supervising
the overall operations of the Group since 2000. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO in Dr. Ko is
beneficial to the management and business development of the
Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership to the
Group. The Board has a total of six Directors and three of them are
INEDs who are qualified professionals and/or experienced individuals.
As all major decisions are made in consultation with all the Board
members who meet on a regularly basis to review the operations of
the Group, and shall be approved by majority approval of the Board,
with the three INEDs on the Board scrutinising important decisions
and offering independent perspectives, the Board believes that
there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance
of powers within the Board. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO at a
time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Ms. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Chan Cheong Tat, and the non-executive Director Mr. CK Ko. Ms. Tse
is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include
but are not limited to:

*  making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and handling any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

*  reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

e discussing with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services;

e monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements,
annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

e discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. This
discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function;

e reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices; and

®  reviewing arrangements employees of the Group can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and,
amongst other matters, considered and approved for presentation
to the Board for consideration and approval the draft audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021 and the draft unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2021, as well as reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.
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The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Audit Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESAE
Mr. CK Ko =R E

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee are published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Ho Chi
Shing and Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, and an executive Director Dr. Ko.
Mr. Ho is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

e making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’'s corporate goals and
objectives;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors; and

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his’/her own remuneration.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held
and, amongst other matters, made recommendations to the Board
on (i) the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management; and (i) the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs).
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The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Remuneration Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Ho Chi Shing AL E
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESE
Dr. Ko [S1i

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Chan
Cheong Tat and Mr. Ho Chi Shing, and an executive Director, Dr.
Ko. Mr. Chan is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include but are not limited to:

. reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background
or professional experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group's corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

e assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs’ annual confirmations on their independence,
and making disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive of
the Group; and

e  reviewing the Board diversity policy periodically and making
disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report of the Company annually.
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During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held and,
amongst other matters, (i) reviewed the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of
the INEDs; and (iii) reviewed and made recommendation on the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on
28 September 2021.

The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Nomination Committee at the meeting held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESAE
Mr. Ho Chi Shing RIS L E
Dr. Ko SiET

Nomination Policy

Nomination Procedures

(1)  The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration.

(2) In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

(3) In the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

(4)  The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

Shareholders may also nominate a person to stand for election as
a Director at a general meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association and applicable laws and regulations. The procedures for
such proposal are posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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BERE
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Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider

a variety of factors including without limitation the following in R )IATEE :

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

(@)  reputation for integrity; (@) Bz

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the E&M  (b) bﬂ% % ﬁ%&ﬁ{ﬁj{ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁk% .

engineering industry and other relevant sectors;

commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company'’s business;

diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and experience;

the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company's success;

compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an
INED; and
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(@ any other relevant factors as may be determined by the (g) REZZESHEZS THERTFEMNEMAEM
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time. MHEREE -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS ﬁ#m‘*ﬂ*ﬂ%ﬁ‘é

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate B EE S B EBITREE S FRISFRETFrE;

governance functions as set out in code provision of the CG Code, HIR¥EA BB

which include:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 18 September 2019. Each of the INEDs and the non-executive
Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 18 September
2019.

None of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association. At each
AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
obtain the number required) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day,
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for the
Year by band is set out below:

FriNEE (LB T

Remuneration band (in HK$)

Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000

Z£2%1,000,000
1,000,001%1,500,000

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was engaged as
the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to Deloitte for audit and non-audit
services in respect of the Year is set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Services Bt E

HK$'000

THETT

Audit services — Annual audit EaT BRI — FEEET 750
Non-audit services IEEAETARTS

— Tax services fee — BRI E 54

— Other services — H b ARTE 150

Total @5t 954

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Deloitte has stated in the independent auditor’s report
its reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Board
acknowledges that such risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risks
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk management
policy in order to provide sound and effective risk management.
This sets out a framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of the Group’s key risks,
with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group’s overall
strategic objectives. The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

In view of the Group'’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems, the Board has engaged an independent consultant firm
to execute the internal audit function. Independent consultant
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and financial reporting procedures, systems
and control for the Year. The report issued by the independent
consultant firm was reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board and no major issue was raised for improvement.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by
the SFC in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the chief financial officer of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Chi Wai (“Mr. Cheng"”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 4 December 2021 to replace Mr. Chan Tak Sun Sammy
who resigned from the position on the same day.

Mr. Cheng has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

All members of the Board can have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the
Company Secretary has been/will be subject to the Board's approval.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are welcome to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposals may be sent to the
Board or the Company Secretary by written requisition. Shareholders
who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may, however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
EGM" set out below.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the "Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, including making proposals or
moving a resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholder(s) who wish(es) to convene an EGM for the
purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM
must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name(s) of the Requisitionist(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will
ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s)
made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order, the
Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome and accordingly,
the Board or the Company Secretary will not call for an EGM nor
include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
Requisitionist(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board or
the Company Secretary fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the
Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the Company Secretary to
convene the EGM shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
or their notification of change of correspondence address or their
dividend/distribution instructions to the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (with effect
from 15 August 2022, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong).
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Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by post to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Unit No. 6, 27th Floor, “909 Cheung Sha Wan Road”,
No. 909 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward
the communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive
Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility
to the chairperson of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matter, such as suggestions, enquiries and
customer complaints to the appropriate management of the

Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that in recommending or

declaring dividends and has the discretion to declare and distribute

dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Memorandum of

Association and Articles of Association and all applicable laws and

regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the

Group when considering the declaration or recommendation of

dividends:

(@)  earnings and financial condition;

(b) financial results;

(¢)  cash flow situation;

(d)  business conditions and strategies;

(e)  future operations requirements;

(f)  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(9) interests of Shareholders;

(h) the general economic and political conditions and other
external factors that may have an impact on the future

business and financial performance of the Group;

(i) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
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() any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

(@ interim dividend;
(b) final dividend;
(c)  special dividend; and

(d) any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association. There can be no assurance that dividends
of such amount or any amount will be declared or distributed each
year or in any year.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, circulars, AGMs and EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Year.

The Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
ACCEL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Accel
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RRELEH

Revenue recognition from provision of electrical and
mechanical (“E&M") engineering services

RERHHE(HE ) TRREH SRR

We identified the revenue recognition from provision of
E&M engineering services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and management'’s estimate is involved in determining
the revenue when contracts progress.

BIFIER B IREME TRERG AW AR HD SRR ERSE
B REREHGAMBHRABBERERAETENERE
Wk e s R ERENMET -

As set out in notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group derived its revenue from provision
of E&M engineering services over time and recognised
HK$547,315,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Revenue from provision of such services is recognised over
time using input method, i.e. based on actual costs incurred
by the Group to date compared with total budgeted costs
for the projects to estimate the revenue recognised during
the year.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZTEARERRECSEANS X

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition
for provision of E&M engineering services included:

KA BRI E TR R RS R P12 5 B I
TEE

3 Obtaining an understanding on how the
management recognises the revenue from the
provision of E&M engineering services and how
the total budget costs are determined;

s THREBEWRKBRMEEIREREEENS
FEARBIEEKAEEN T

3 Agreeing the project contract sum and values of
variation orders, where applicable, to the relevant
signed contracts and the correspondence with
customers on a sample basis;

e BEBEHNSHERIBEHEEE(NER)H
HEE RS K RER P BAE TR

3 Assessing the accuracy of actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the
supporting documents including the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the major
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors, on a sample
basis;

s WMBERUHIEZENEH  HERIERLANH
X (BRENREBARER) U EAFECE
A RERRAR RN

. Checking the total budget costs against the
underlying contracts, quotation and other
correspondence with subcontractors, suppliers or
vendors of individual projects on a sample basis;
and

o  REFEMEENHESH BMEREHBR - H
R B R H A - mEaERENLR
LR

3 Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised
for the year by recalculating the revenue based
on the percentage of completion of the contract
based on the input method.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RREZER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

B RUEHER S NEE ZRER G

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables and contract assets to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
involvement of subjective judgment and management
estimates in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL"”) of
the Group'’s trade receivables and contract assets at the end
of the reporting period.
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As set out in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets amounting to approximately HK$59,796,000 and
HK$166,392,000, which represented approximately 13.5%
and 37.5%, respectively, of total assets of the Group as at
31 March 2022.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFMAEREARETSR

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets included:
BMEHESRRFIBEREHNEE RENERFE
7

3 Understanding key controls on how the
management of the Group estimates the loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract
assets;

e TR BEEEEREMGESIRKFERANE
EBRRE T A BT S 1

3 Testing the integrity of information used by
the management of the Group for impairment
assessment, including the ageing analysis of trade
receivables and past due history of debtors as at
31 March 2022, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
construction agreements, certificates issued by
architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers, settlement records
of debtors and other supporting documents; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
RREREE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets
ESERWRERESNEE ZHETMG

As disclosed in notes 4 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information. As disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. Impairment of HK$631,000 and
HK$1,568,000 in respect of trade receivables and contract
assets, respectively, were recognised as at 31 March 2022
and no impairment loss was made for the year then ended.
BNFE M BHRERNTARINAHRE - EEEERERE
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AREXEE®@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN Ft O AEREARETSR

Challenging management’s basis and judgment
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March
2022, including their identification of credit-
impaired trade receivables and contract assets,
and the basis of estimated loss rates applied on
each debtor in the impairment assessment with
reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information.
BREEEETN202243A318E S EKEIE
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HEERBEEZEKFIERENEERZRAR
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 % 3R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is K. W. Yim.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2022

RE AR B S M SRR ARIE
ZEE@m)

REERERBNEIET  RIFVREWPLERY
AHREGRMBHRENERZA/ER - AMBK
RRBEZFA - RIDARIER T B AFHEE
HEIE - FIRBEENBERT - BHAIRBAEELL
SHASERHN T RERBEBARANTUWE
EIRMM M NER RS P HEE - TRIRMERN
BB T e B R0

HARBYZBERENBXTIEARARER

(E

mE o MERS AT
HE SN

0

202246 H28H

69



70

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REBRREMMEERESR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
B F20224F3 531 H1FFE

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A318ILEE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

BosE FHT T

Revenue I 5 547,315 508,904

Cost of services RRFEA AN (439,801) (406,302)

Gross profit EF 107,514 102,602

Other income HAan A 6 517 11,369
Impairment losses under expected BHREEEERA T2

credit loss model, net of reversal AR E (R ER) 31 — (2,199)

Administrative expenses TE R (26,013) (25,135)

Finance costs B FE R AN 7 (309) (175)

Profit before taxation BREL AR 8 81,709 86,462

Income tax expense FiefimY 10 (13,729) (13,159)

Profit and total comprehensive income £ Rz F & 2 H W
for the year L] 67,980 73,303

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive  FRE/GZEF(EE) KR

income (expense) for the year ZHEUNE (B 458 -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RARHEE A 68,181 73,303
Non-controlling interests FEPEHIMERE RS (201) =
67,980 73,303
Earnings per share SREF 12

— Basic (HK cents) —JEARGEN) 8.52 9.16
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE BRI R

As at 31 March 2022

20223 H31H
2022 PAYA
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FHT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - B KEE 13 3,294 3,572
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 3,271 4,105
Payments for life insurance FANE i 15 6,951 6,879
Pledged bank balances BIRIRIRI TSR 18 - 15,186
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 23 363 363
13,879 30,105
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 K H A FEW IR
and prepayments e RN 16 78,131 61,236
Contract assets BHEE 17 166,392 146,592
Tax recoverable A] [ I8 438 =
Pledged bank balances BIRIRIRI TR 18 41,807 42,256
Bank balances and cash RITHER MRS 18 143,265 186,418
430,033 436,502
Current liabilities nREAE
Trade and retention payables B ZENRIE - B
and accruals RES M EFTEH 19 43,939 90,683
Contract liabilities EHRaE 17 10,445 2,227
Taxation payable FERHIE 267 1,697
Bank loans RITER 20 14,541 15,022
Lease liabilities HEBR 21 2,543 2,847
71,735 112,476
Net current assets REEETFE 358,298 324,026
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABEE 372,177 354,131
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION #& B ik R+

As at 31 March 2022
R2022%F3H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 21 1,065 1,410
Net assets EEFE 371,112 352,721
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital N 22 8,000 8,000
Reserves e 363,302 344,721
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AELER
the Company 371,302 352,721
Non-controlling interests FEEEFIERE R (190) —
Total equity R 371,112 352,721

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 144 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
BREEL
Director

EF

FI0E 144 B4R E TS TRERE R20229F6 A28
AESESHERBETIRETHUATESRER
2.

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan
REMLL

Director

EF



SEEBEEZERERDT  202FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREEIR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Bl 202293531 HIFFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN 5
Non-
Share Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve profits Total interests equity
FER
kA ROEE HAtREE  REEH st hEEE EfAF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THT THL THET THT TEL THET
(Note)
(BsE)

At 1 April 2020 1M2020F4A1H 8,000 195,606 (72,580) 173,992 305,018 - 305,018
Profit and total comprehensive income  FR&aF| X 2 H K25

for the year - - - 73,303 73,303 = 73,303
Dividends recognised s distribution REDRNARARS

(Note 11) (Ftzr11) - - - (256000 (25600) - (25600
At31 March 2021 12021435318 8000 195606  (72580) 221695 352,721 -3
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive RN (B1R) B2 E R

income (expense) for the year (Tt - - - 68,181 68,181 (201) 67,980
Capital contribution from REF RS L

non-controlling shareholders - - - - - " 1"
Dividends recognised as distribution REDRNAREARE

(Note 11) (BizE11) - - - (49,600) (49,600) - (49,600)
At 31 March 2022 120224635318 8000 195606  (12580) 240276 371,302 (190) 371,112

Note: The other reserve arose from: (i) deemed distribution arising from the — [ff3¥ : EfbREERE  (VEABBEEERAR—BARA

imputed interest income on non-current interest-free advances to AR (EE A M) (EH IERN B B 2 XA (i
a shareholder of the Company (as defined in Note 1) amounting to B AR DIK10,190,0007 7T  (i)F£2018
HK$10,190,000 in prior years; (ii) issuance of ordinary shares of the F1AAAR AN ERBRRBBHERZAT
Company for the reorganisation of the Group for the listing of the BRARER FTHAEEEHABTARRE
Company'’s ordinary shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange 3EAL72,266,0005 7T 5 MK (ii)R A K B EA G FE
of Hong Kong Limited completed on 30 November 2018 amounting —ZARANEIER R IER 349,876,000/ 7T ©

to HK$72,266,000; and (iii) deemed contribution arising from the
waiver of an amount due to a shareholder of the Company amounting
to HK$9,876,000.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BIF2022F3H31HIFFE
2022 AOVA
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Profit before taxation B A& A 81,709 86,462
Adjustments for: BTFIEE EH AR -
Depreciation of property, M - BEREETE
plant and equipment 767 772
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 4,073 3,293
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BE K& E TR
plant and equipment, net (99) =
Interest income FEHA (224) (830)
Impairment losses under expected BEHEEEEREN T
credit loss model, net of reversal REETE - HIBRER - 2,199
Interest income on payments SRS R F B U A
for life insurance (72) (71)
Finance costs B R RN 309 175
Operating cash flows before movements  &iEESEFRINEERSRE
in working capital 86,463 92,000
(Increase) decrease in trade and other () A2 5 K H A fE Y0 -
receivables, deposits and prepayments e RTENFRIA (16,895) 6.204
Increase in contract assets BHVEEE N (19,800) (42,101)
(Decrease) increase in trade and retention (R4 )1EINE S ENMNFIE « ENRES
payables and accruals et &R (46,744) 41,784
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHEaEEIMCRD) 8,218 )
Cash generated from operations KEFTRIRE 11,242 97,878
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BEEENEH (15,597) (19,641)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities (FBR)RB&&EEE 2 FHRE (4,355) 78,237
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchases of property, HBEME  WE KRG
plant and equipment (489) (423)
Placements of pledged bank balances FAC BRI TERR - (7,588)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE¥% - BE K REFTSRIEAE
and equipment 929 —
Release of pledged bank balances BRI IRITAE AR RR 15,635 20,299
Interest received B UF S 224 830
Net cash from investing activities REZEER FHE 15,469 13,118




EEREBEZRERLT  2022FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #Z8R&fkER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
ElF2022F3H31HIFFE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET AT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REES
New bank loan raised MEEMIRITER 16,367 16,000
Repayments of bank loans EERIRITER (16,848) (1,461)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEERE (3,888) (3,141)
Contributions from non-controlling REFEERRE 2 HE
interests 1 -
Dividends paid B E (49,600) (25,600)
Interest paid EATFLE (309) (175)
Net cash used in financing activities AREEEEFHE (54,267) (14,377)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRAESEEYNZOID ) EBR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (43,153) 76,978
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FANNRERESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 186,418 109,440
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERNRERBSEEY -
AT END OF THE YEAR, BRITHRABRERS

represented by bank balances and
cash 143,265 186,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE I IR IR R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B ZHI) - GLETTIT)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Accel Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of
the Cayman Islands on 20 September 2018, and its shares
have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18
October 2019. The addresses of the registered office and the
principal place of business of the Company are Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands and Unit No. 6, 27th Floor, “909 Cheung Sha
Wan Road”, No. 909 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha
Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the ultimate controlling parties
are Dr. Ko Lai Hung (“Dr. Ko"”) and Ms. Cheung Mei Lan
(“Ms. Cheung”, who is the wife of Dr. Ko). The immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company is Lightspeed
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI").

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is principally engaged in provision of electrical and
mechanical ("E&M") engineering services typically involving
supply, installation and maintenance of mechanical ventilation
and air-conditioning systems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & B I8 8RR M s

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Phase 2

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting
requirements and the related disclosure requirements applying
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 7).

At 1 April 2021, the Group has bank loans amounting
to HK$14,675,000, the interests of which are indexed to
benchmark rates that will or may be subject to interest rate
benchmark reform. The amendments have had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant
contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement
rates during the year. Additional disclosures as required by
HKFRS 7 are set out in note 31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & B I8 8RR MicE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

g = SFAEGN 4 1 SEE B )
(PRZ3 ns"q/‘?/f S IA ﬁ,/'_ij N/

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract’

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020"

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #5S B #§ R R i 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise /nd/cated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes ("HKAS
12") so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
for leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities
are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred
tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to HK$3,271,000 and HK$3,608,000,
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the
full impact of the application of the amendments.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses
whether a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the
unavoidable costs under the contract should reflect the least
net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising
from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include
incremental costs and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the
Group has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of
initial application.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements includes applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of these asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16"”), and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

3.
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e has power over the investee; o  AIHRBHRITEEN :
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its e H2HEREURNEBMAIESEHE

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

() the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

3.

(Expressed in Hong Kong do//ars un/ess otherwise indicated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

The provision of the Group’s E&M engineering services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time
as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is
recognised for these construction services based on the stage
of completion of the contract over time using input method, i.e.
based on actual costs incurred by the Group to date compared
with total budgeted costs for the projects to estimate the
revenue recognised during the year.

Revenue from sales of disinfection spray equipment and
accessories are recognised when the control of goods is
transferred, being they have been shipped to the customer’s
specific location based on the quantity of disinfection spray
equipment and accessories received by the customers. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer’s specific location and received by
the customers as this represents the point in time at which
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer
or avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by
the customers. No provision for returns of disinfection spray
equipment set out in the relevant sales agreements, unless
they could be replaced if there are quality problems found.

Payments for life insurance

Payments for life insurance was stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost adjusted for interest
income and service charges, less impairment losses, if any.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & B I8 8RR M s

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component and are accounted for by applying
other applicable standards.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

3 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.

B RSB @

Leases (continued) HE@®
The Group as a lessee (continued) AREFERAEA (&)
Right-of-use assets (continued) EHERE &)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong do//ars un/ess otherwise /nd/cated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
The lease payments include:

3 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

3 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

3 the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

3 the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRSs require or permit the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSFEE@®

(continued)

Government grants BT B

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable FE& 32 3 AR 38 7N 62 (B & 38 <F B 4/ B B9 PR
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions EIRH AR SEEEMEE - H R
attaching to them and that the grants will be received. B

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on U8 Bh Th st AN 55 B HE SR 0 8 Bl B > (LA
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group BRI FHESHA AR R ) AR R AT EEY
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants RN B IHER

are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to subsidy income from government BB ABEBNERmEE EE T
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the 7N 5% 1B ) B B 7G5 S 8% (i R R 2R 7B A B
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit )+ B A B AR A FE UG I BY B 7T
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such B R - AEBAREE 25 H K
grants are presented under “other income”. NI

Taxation *)?:IE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 1514 R 2 4 BN HA B A5 B TE BLE RE R TR Y
payable and deferred tax. f”rv%'ﬁfu °

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the BV HA FE 15 B I8 T AR 7N GF 2 PR AR B v ) BT
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because B o AN HEMF FHERTLS AT B KA
of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible S AR BERB KA IFRIAE - &
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. Rt A B IR BR T AT o NS B A AD
The Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates HAREEENRBRENREBAMRELR
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of MR ERTE -

the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BERIBIRGANBHRERTEERAR
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the B BR TE B ER 5T & PR AR Bl i A FT AR FE B &
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax ZEREREEER c BEHIBAEE MK
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax MATBEERV G REEER - BEHIBE
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary ERBANREREENER —RER
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for RB A REH FERT R T 7] A LA S A BE ]
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is MRERZRE - MY THR(EBHE MR
probable that taxable profits will be available against which IN—IBRGMEERBEMEENERFE
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such B ERRT NI EaF - BIE-H
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the BEHEEERBBER T THER -

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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N =

\s“ﬁ SHEFHI - 1L
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBEE@W
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are M BEMRREBRFEEESHEES M
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, SRGHIETHAENNBREEE - ¥
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment ¥ BEERIEBENNHREZZFTTER
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position ZEOREEE (B ) RERE BB R KT
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and R o
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of W& iR B EMET A fE A F H A B 0A
assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight- SHERATER - et ERFEHRRAER
line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation ERRE SRR - WIR AT E AT &
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with R E AR -
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised M BEREHEEE DREERNETE
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are HﬂﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁEE%ET‘@EE*X%%?‘J%
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any R ETER - A B mEYE  BE R
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of RIGEEB MEENEMER  KABREE
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference EI’JHj’%ﬁfrﬁﬁlﬁiﬁiﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁZ%%E%E g
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the W Bz R
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment on property, plant and equipment ME BRERIXEREAEEER
and right-of-use assets =l
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the RIBEER - NEBEREEERERFH
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and HME  BEESEREREEENER
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether B NEERRERNDREBETRZEEE
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an EHBRREER - WMEEERERTR
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable RISt EEEEN T B £ 58 - LABEER
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine EEBENREEE) -
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment W - WEREEREREEENTRE
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is SETYEBIH AT o BARBEE Rt ET AT
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, WEl R - NEBAGTEEMBRSE
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- B RATREEEE o

generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating units
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBEE@W

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment M- BMERIXEREAEEER
and right-of-use assets (continued) B @)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying W EBENEEED  IEE(RREE
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group B IR e EABMNAAR)BEREE IS
of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate EHZEFTREET AT REI S5 - ERILE
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying EmMREEETSRREE(SReEELS
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have sk IR & E A B AR R IBA F 2 I g
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised RAEBERETENRAE - REBER
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash- Bl AER g iR o

generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments ERTIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a EEBEERKANBIAESRKE] ZEIH
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of FE - RleRRYBEERMBEE - T
the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial BEUEREZECHENHE LM BEEE
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date R 5 BEREERR R IETER o EHRBK
basis. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that BENE RN TIZ AR B AIFTHE 2
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by MERRNRNEE 2 MBEE °

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured CREERSBABVIRATENE -
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from HRBEE BV BEREENE1SRELEAY
contracts with customers which are initially measured in KRt EREBEFE AN E SRR
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with HRRON o WHESBITEMEERSRAR
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable BEEBENZ KA  RYTHERETA
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial CREESISHABNATESBSRHE
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the EdemBENATFERNRER) -
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial

recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the ERMEEZAAEBHTESREERD
amortised cost of a financial asset and a financial liability and Bh e EHE N R o B A B A K F B
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the XH A o BIEFR BRI MR R Al
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that FEARRBEWARMNH(BEBREEER
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments FENFBEMNIERBARESY X5
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an AR E AR E I ) RS B E S R
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs BEE TS A HE (ER ) E/EaL
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of REREFEMAFE o

the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

3 the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFBE@®
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMIA@m
Financial assets (continued) THEE &)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to £ TR EREMIEH (BRIEE BN
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BRI E O TR (B AT ). 2 B 1E
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected ZK%I*ETF@ BEE(REEIREME
credit loss (“ECL") on financial assets (including trade and WIE « AREHESEE « BIRIPRITA
other receivables, refundable rental deposits, pledged bank t - RITERMNTEREEBEE(FEHEE
balances and bank balances) and other item (i.e. contract B8 ) R IRIE R A ISR S RIS 95778
assets) which are subject to impairment assessment under ETREEMNEMER (ANEE)#ET
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting BERE - BHEEBEESENSHREH
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. HTUAER - URMEERR B VIPHER

VATRENEEE) o

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all 2HEHEEEEEER I ANEAFH
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant AFTEAEMENEHHEENTEREE
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") 18 - Ak - 12 AFEEBEEEE( 128
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result AHEMEEFEDEREBHRI2EAR
from default events that are possible within 12 months after AR A BN SRR EER 2 TR E
the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s FEEEEN—H5 AEEERBEHRAT
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are EEEACR (HEBARERZRETH
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an ) BREOEARRRE RS BBRBRRRR
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting RIE A TRBIVEH A ST G AT RS ©
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables REBEKGEE SRR HIERENEERE
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed REMEHEEEE ZEZFEENEHE
individually. EEBSEETM -
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss RABEMTAMS @ ~5EBEFENEE
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been BESEN12EABBEEEE  RIEZE
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in BERER BV PERAREZ LA - BIARE
which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment ERRAZHEHREESSE - FIER FEﬁE
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on RERBEHREEREENREBUZHER
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default REE B AR RE M SRR EE LT -

occurring since initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
and contract assets as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the external (if available) or internal credit rating of
the financial instrument and contract assets;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFBE@®

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRMIA@m

Financial assets (continued) THEE &)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to £ TR EREMIEH (BRIEE BN

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) HREERE IS TT IR EFL) Z R E

(ﬁ)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) iy EERBBEZELHGE)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, o DR AR - AEERE
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased ’JT‘JL K AR A30 A - (EE A
significantly since initial recognition when contractual BBV HRAREEE - BRIE
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the $’$lﬁ/\ﬁ&—baﬁﬂ FERR] T UL
Group has reasonable and supportable information that A E 5lzm
demonstrates otherwise.
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the REGFELMER - WEBIAESE
credit risk on a debt instrument or a contract asset has HNEENREAHEEREEREE
not increased significantly since initial recognition if the B AREREREFLAREHNE
debt instrument and the contract asset is determined ENEERR B VRERLTEEE
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt 20 e MOEZNRBRRE : ()EF
instrument or a contract asset is determined to have BRAEINEHBITESLNBRER
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the 2EME RI)REENCERER
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual ARRIFIEFEE) - R LY BE
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse FTRITHEEHNRERER MR
changes in economic and business conditions in the AEBTASEHNEENEER
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the WEETE BRI - ?E?Tﬁ‘klﬂﬁ’]l?ﬂﬁﬁjz
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow HINBEETRRIRERAI(RRE
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument or FERNER)  AArEEgRZE
a contract asset to have low credit risk when it has an BLANEERBRRE -
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as
per globally understood definitions.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of AEETHEZERAREEEERRZE
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a BARIE AR 2 BRUE - W
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as TRFEITIER] LME%E%T@E@E%EA
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of FIEEH C BiIEREERRES AR

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 0 e
amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset or a
contract asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets and contract assets

A financial asset or a contract asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset or a
contract asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset or a contract
asset when there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
or contract assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and retention payables and
bank loans) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #5S B #§ R R i 5E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of E&M
engineering services

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of E&M
engineering services according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as the
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation measured based on input method, i.e. based
on actual costs incurred by the Group to date compared
with total budgeted costs for the projects to estimate the
revenue recognised during the year. Notwithstanding that
the management reviews and revises the estimates of both
contract revenue and costs for the E&M engineering services
as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract
in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower
than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recognised revenue amounted to HK$547,315,000 (2021:
HK$508,904,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount
of ECL of trade receivables and contract assets based on
internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment history and/or past
due status of respective debtors. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the internal credit
rating and historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL is disclosed in note 31.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets were HK$59,796,000
(2021: HK$50,716,000), and HK$166,392,000 (2021:
HK$146,592,000), respectively, including allowance of credit
losses for the Group’s trade receivables of HK$631,000
(2021: HK$631,000) and the Group's contract assets of
HK$1,568,000 (2021: HK$1,568,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group arose from provision of E&M
engineering services typically rendered in Hong Kong under
long-term contracts and were recognised over time during the
year.

The Group provides E&M engineering services to customers
which are mainly landlords, construction companies and
contractors in Hong Kong private sector. All the Group’s
provision of E&M Engineering services is made directly with
the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B #8 8RR Ffi &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The Group's contracts are mainly at fixed-price and payments
are made to the Group over the provision of E&M engineering
services once such services are performed and certified by
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers.

The Group may require certain customers to make advance
payments during the provision of E&M engineering services,
when the Group receives the advance payments before
provision of E&M engineering services, this will give rise to
contract liabilities, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of such advances.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the provision
of E&M engineering services are performed representing the
Group's right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the relevant certification
by architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by
the customers.

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon the Group'’s services
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers.

The Group's contracts with customers normally require it to
perform the obligations (including, amongst others, primarily
rectification of defects identified) under the contracts during
the defects liability period generally for 12 to 24 months after
issuance of practical completion certificates by customers.
The defect liability period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-upon
specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased
separately. 5% to 10% of each interim payment from the
customers is usually withheld by the customers as retention
receivables (as included in the Group’s contract assets) in
which 50% of the retention receivable is transferred to the
trade receivables for collection upon issuance of practical
completion certificates, and the remaining 50% of the
retention receivable is transferred to the trade receivables for
collection upon expiry of the defects liability period set out in
the relevant contracts.

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, regularly review revenue recognised
and costs incurred for the provision of E&M engineering
services and, therefore, considered the Group has only one
single reporting and operating segment under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BB HFZHI) - L ETST)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) in respect of
provision of E&M engineering services as at 31 March 2022
amounting to HK$1,019,477,000 (2021: HK$742,087,000)
which is expected to be recognised as revenue in the following

5.

Wiz R 2o 2B E R
PTHEFAKBHNETNRZER

MR2022F3A3MBPEEEF AR E#ET
ERENFESBHEE(REBITHRID A
B17) MR BE A1,019,477,000 7% 7T
(20214 : 742,087,000/ 7T ) » TEHA# R
TN FERERARE

years:
2022 AOVA
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Within one year —FA 575,538 474,387

More than one year but not —F LA HETRBBEMRT

more than two years 348,704 217,314
More than two years BB F 95,235 50,386
1,019,477 742,087

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief AARHITER(AEELERERESE

operating decision maker, regularly review revenue recognised
and costs incurred for the provision of E&M engineering
services and, therefore, considered the Group has only one
single reporting and operating segment under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

All the Group’s revenue was earned from customers located in
Hong Kong and all its non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are situated in Hong Kong.

Revenue from customers for the year contributing over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C EFEC
Customer D ZFD
Customer E =FE

HIm B ph IR LM T A2 AR A% P AR A M 2
MITEEMAA AW RBE SV RS
BRIESRAL L HRA/ANEEER —BE
—HERKEDE

ARENMBRSHKRBURBENE
F - mEMEBIFRBEE (SR TEKEL
BIREERINDURES -

RAFERERFPMAEE R W ETEERA
10% B ZEZAT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
59,586 N/A i A
57,997 N/A i A
N/A =& 150,814
N/A ~E R 77,508
N/A & 76,061

The revenue from the above customers marked with not
applicable (“N/A") represents their revenue contributions to
the Group were less than 10% of the Group’s revenue in the
relevant year.

RE EZENER(AERDMERPI
HIEHEAEBH RS DRAEE R IR
FEWZER10% °



SEEBEEZERERDT  202FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B #8 8RR Ffi &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(b= EiHs) - LB TTIT)

OTHER INCOME 6. HALWA
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT

Interest income FEUA 224 830

Government grants (Note i) TR Bh (FEED) - 10,339

Interest income on payments for life XNEREHFEWA

insurance 72 71

Gain on disposal of property, plant and H &% « BB MR E 2 WS F58

equipment, net 929 -
Others (Note ii) HoAth (B i) 122 129
517 11,369

Notes: PR -

i. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised i. REE20216F3A31 B IEFE - AEERE
government grants of HK$10,339,000 in respect of Coronavirus RAZEBHE2019B KRS HIEED
disease 19 related subsidies, of which HK$10,289,000 and #HARTERR10,339,00078 LB f B - H AR
HK$50,000 related to Employment Support Scheme and one- BREERBNREEARMEEE AR
off subsidy for Transport Trades, respectively, provided by the A 88 E — R IERERE D 51 410,289,000
Hong Kong Government. 77T 150,000 7T ©

ii.  Included in the others for the year was a profit of HK$106,000 i.  RAFE EMBREREHEESESR
(2021: HK$24,000) from the sales of disinfection spray & I B 14 79 #11106,0007% 7T (2021 4F
equipment and accessories. The relevant revenue recognised, 24,0008 70) - RE —RHEHBEERL
based on a point in time, was HK$423,000 (2021: HK$115,000) FRAE RIS A 423,0007 70 (20214 -

for the year. 115,000/&7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 48 B I8 R R 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B = HaHo) - LA ETIT)

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIRERA

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
TExT FETT
Interest on bank loans SRITEF A 159 33
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 150 142
309 175

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. PBRFANER

2022 2021
20224 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Profit before taxation has been arrived — BRFZ A& FI THF0RR A N S IBIEIZEEN ¢
at after charging:

Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB MREITE

equipment 767 772
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 4,073 3,293
Auditor’s remuneration A ClEA 750 800

Staff costs (including the remuneration B IR (BERRTZESZEHH) :
of the directors of the Company):

— Salaries and allowances and —#H o KR A RBEBIEA
discretionary bonus 77,668 73,282
— Retirement benefit scheme — RONEFFT B30
contributions 2,674 2,457
Total staff costs B TR A58 80,342 75,739

Donations BN 255 60
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s

emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid to the directors and chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B = HAHI) - L ETTIT)

9. %% - BRETBRAEBRESH
EEMERESTRASHE

¥ AL FEERATREE OB
W -

B F20224F3531HILFE

Other emoluments

Hit &
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
HeR RINER
ik Hit2a AL STEIMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TET TET
Executive directors: HIES:
Dr. Ko =it - 2,262 570 18 2,850
Ms. Cheung RAT - 1,247 345 18 1,610
Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit e ( Bk
(“Mr. CK Ko", son of RE] SELE
Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung) REEZRF) 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive ~ BMIFHITES :
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat BREERE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ho Chi Shing ST AE 180 - - - 180
900 3,509 915 36 5,360
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BB HFZHI) - L ETST)

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. BEX  RETHAERESHH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) £ )

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s EEMERRSTHRAEME @
emoluments (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

B F202143531HILFE

Other emoluments
Hiviie
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
Hek Y]
e HA28h BBTEAT SRR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT AT THL
Executive directors; HOEE
Dr. Ko Bt - 2,280 570 18 2,868
Ms. Cheung RZL - 1,380 345 18 1,743
Non-executive director; FHTES:
Mr. CK Ko afEfEE 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive B IFHITES
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat BREELAE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEBLL 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ho Chi Shing EMEE 180 - - - 180
900 3,660 915 36 5,511

The emoluments of the above executive directors of the
Company were paid for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Group whereas
the emoluments of the above non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors of the Company were
paid for their services as directors of the Company during the
year. Besides, the above executive directors of the Company
are entitled to bonus payments which are determined with
reference to individual performance of the relevant directors.

Dr. Ko is also the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive”) and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

None of the directors of the Company nor the Chief Executive
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

RAFE > FRARBARITERTNMES T
RS EEEA KB EHAT MRS M2
- AN RRFFNITES B I
TEENNE IR BEEFEEARRESH
REMRBEM A o tboh - B AR FH
TEERRENTEL  ZFEADNEL2E
HAEEMEARBRETE -

SELTARRRTRAR([THRAR])
R b AR 2 BlE R B R EEITR
ST HIRTS < BN -

RAEFE  BEARRES RITHAE
WEKRBRETTME -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
include 2 (2021: 2) directors of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out above. Details of the emoluments
of the remaining 3 (2021: 3) highest paid individuals are as
follows:

9.

(B = HAHI) - L ETTIT)

EE - BRETHRAERESEM
cAC )

EEME

KEE > KEBHWRAERSHFHALTEIE
2% (20214 : 2B)ANRRES - HBEF
BHEHR EX o 88 T35 (20214F : 38 )&=
HIATHES BT ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Employees ==

— Salaries and allowances —¥He KRR 2,535 2,404
— Discretionary bonus (Note) —BIBTEAL (FiE) 623 838

— Retirement benefit scheme — RN EFIFT B
contributions 54 54
3,212 3,296

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the employees and approved by the
management of the Group.

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid employees
were within the following bands:

Mzt BBTEAL R 2 EEEMEARREEL
HASEEEEHLE -

BT ER=FMEENMEEENT

2022 2021
20226 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 52 1,500,000/ 7T 2 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company, Chief Executive nor the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

AEBEYEFAETMNARTDES  HHITK
ABHABERHMA L HEMBE(E
RIMARE B R INAKREE R 5 2B B
BABE -
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10.

Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEB

FrieHimx

2022
20224

2021
20214
HK$'000
T

HK$"000
TR

— Current year —AREE 13,591 13,522
— Underprovision in previous years —BAFERETR 138 -
Deferred tax ERERIE = (363)
13,729 13,159

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered
profits tax rates regime was applicable to Chit Tat Electrical
Engineering Limited (”Chit Tat”, a wholly-owned subsidiary)
for current and prior year. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of Chit Tat is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for current
and prior year.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

BEEBFEHEMEST - GEREEE2E
B8 T HY % M 815 8.25 % T R 4 4N i 18 -
MmEE2 E BB T m M #5312 16.5% B X
BNTEIE - THEMNESHMAER ZE
BB RN GEEIR165% 2 F— M=K
BRTRTE - RAFERBEFE @ FIBH
MARFERRNEERE TIREAR AR ([
Z|  —HME2EWBRR)) - Bt BER
FERBFFENTEANEHRNIZE2ES
S TCH A A FE R B i A 15 12 8.25% Fl R
LA R i82 B &8 T fh et FE AR B m A %
16.5% Tt R EANTHIE o

RAFENMERAX AT EZGEBE L E
fl 2 E RS R ARIBR T ADE ME RN T

2022 AOVA
20225 20214F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx T
Profit before taxation FREE A A 81,709 86,462
Tax charge at the applicable income tax %3 FFTSHiFi £ 16.5%
rate at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (20214F : 16.5% )5t EHITHIE
X H 13,482 14,266
Tax effect of expenses not deductible R F0FEFE S TR 7S 5228
for tax purpose 264 847
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAERTMARNRBEZE
tax purpose (30) (1,789)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  ARIER TR IS ETEA TS A2 40 =
Underprovision in previous years BREFERENR 138 =
Income tax at concessionary rate REEMETERAEH (165) (165)
Income tax expense for the year REEFEBHRZ 13,729 13,159
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B 7= B 72851

LGB TSR

DIVIDENDS 11. RE
2022 AOYA
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$’000
THExT FAT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders FARR AP IREIAR F AR
of the Company recognised as A2

distribution during the year:
— 2021 final dividend: HK4.1 cents per
share (2021: 2020 final dividend:

— 2021 FREARR B+ B4 17510
(20214 : 20205 R HAMR B, -

HK3.2 cents per share) BFR%3.2/810) 32,800 25,600
— 2022 interim dividend: HK2.1 cents ~ — 20224 R HARL & : &R2.1781(L
per share (2021: 2021 interim (20214 : 2021 R EARR S ¢
dividend: Nil) ) 16,800 —
49,600 25,600
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend RmERERE - NARESDERLE
of HK2.1 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year ended %20 22¢3ﬂ 3B IEFREIRNREARKRE S
31 March 2022, in an aggregate amount of HK$16,800,000 AR mAR2. 1AL - 424 %87516,800,0007%
has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is TC  WRRFARR R A FE E R R A F K
subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the e i -
forthcoming annual general meeting.
EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BREF

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purpose of calculating AR T ESRREA BT EF|

(REREH)

basic earnings per share (profit for
the year)

AR T AR SRR AR TR A
TEEHE -

2022
20225

2021
20214
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
FET

68,181 73,303

Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREARRFIF LR

Jillle S SE¢E!

shares for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share

No. of shares

BB
‘000
TR

No. of shares
BB

"000
TR

%

800,000 800,000

No diluted earnings per share is presented for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 as there was no potential ordinary
share in issue.

AR EBEDBEITEER ML ER7
HE2022F M2021F3A31HILFENE
g D-vpli
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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13. M1 - BERRE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
A carpark Leasehold fixtures and Motor
space improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE Bl £B
FE MERER ET EH #s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TET TET
cost B
At 1 April 2020 M202054 518 2,300 196 2,17 749 5,416
Additions RE - 17 406 - 423
At 31 March 2021 1202143 A318 2,300 213 2,577 749 5,839
Additions E - a4 445 - 489
Transfer from right-of-use B FIEEEE R
assets - - - 1,544 1,544
Disposals/written-off HE /s - - - (799) (799)
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H 2,300 257 3,022 1,494 7,073
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 April 2020 1202044818 119 64 1,200 112 1,495
Provided for the year REEERE 79 102 366 225 772
At 31 March 2021 1202143 H318 198 166 1,566 337 2,267
Provided for the year KFERE 79 57 406 225 767
Transfer from right-of-use ~ B{FFEEESH
assets = = = 1,544 1,544
Eliminated upon disposals/  tH& /HisHeS 1
written-off - - - (799) (799)
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H 277 223 1,972 1,307 3,779
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2022 1202253 H318 2,023 34 1,050 187 3,294
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3H31H 2,102 47 1,011 412 3,572




13.

14.

SREBEERERA 20225 F 4R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #5S B #§ R R i 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

\s“f:”:’ */ﬂ” . 'L LB T ey /\\
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERZE@®
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are L% - BRERBEEABESERATE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per MZEATE -
annum:
A carpark space 3% (EEXIa 3%
Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease term HEMEEE HEHR
Furniture, fixtures and 20%-30% B~ KEREE 20%—-30%

equipment

Motor vehicles 20% 8 20%
The Group’s carpark space is situated in Hong Kong and is AEEBWEEMEES @ WHHERITER
pledged to secure a bank loan (Note 20). e AR (i 3E20) o
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EREEE
The tenure of the Group’s lease arrangements for renting AEEHRBEEN - WRAEME BER
carpark space, office premises, warehouses and motor vehicles MEMNHELRHFHEEAMERF -
is mainly from two to five years.
The lease arrangements for renting carpark space, office HAFEL WAEMERRENHER
premises and warehouses usually allow early termination for FBREATAEERNHEERGE T ZEA%
the Group’s giving one-month prior notice after twelve months LT —EABARAKERE - BRIFH
from the commencement of the leases, otherwise, penalties, MHREER—EAHENRNIIR - EEM
equivalent to one-month lease payment, is necessary. In HARFIE T RHEARNRER - AN&E
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the FEREAERIEEE L AT HITAIHAR ©
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.
In respect of the lease arrangements for renting motor HERAENHEREMS  ASEEHE
vehicles, the Group has options to purchase the motor vehicles REBRERNZRECHEBETE S
for nominal amounts at the end of the leases and there is no RERATARIEFAE o

early termination options.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group’s right-of-use assets in respect of lease

arrangements for renting carpark space, office premises,
warehouses and motor vehicles at the end of reporting period
are as follows:

14. FREEEm@®
REERREHRMBERFELN - PAE
WE - BENMAIENEEL NS NFER
MEZEMT

Carpark Office Motor
space premises  Warehouses vehicles Total
FEL  BREYE RE "E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR TR TR
CARRYING VALUES REE
As at 31 March 2022 202234310
Carrying amount FHE 69 1,563 484 1,155 3,271
As at 31 March 2021 202143 A31 BREME
Carrying amount = 2,480 529 1,096 4,105
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z2022F3A31H L5
Depreciation charge EER 29 2,540 610 894 4,073
For the year ended 31 March 2021 & ZE2021F3A31HLEFE
Depreciation charge FEER 47 1,884 658 704 3,293

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets (mainly
motor vehicles) at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Other
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

During the year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases
amounting to HK$4,038,000 (2021: HK$3,283,000).

During the year, the Group had additions to right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$3,239,000 (2021: HK$4,610,000).

In addition, the Group’s lease liabilities of HK$3,608,000 (2021:
HK$4,257,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of HK$3,271,000 (2021: HK$4,105,000) as at 31 March 2022.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessors.

AEE A EHETENE A RE SIS AR
HEEEMER(EERAE)NERESR
EERGAMEEA ERFHEREET
E-HiEREEENEGAERFH
RABARREE BBV REREITE °

RAEE  AEEHRENARES AL A
4,038,000/87T (20214 :3,283,000/ 7T ) °

RAFEE  AEBLAEBEFTHEEE
3,239,000/ 7T (20214 :4,610,000787T) °

gtoh - A& EHEE & & 3,608,000 7% JT
(20214 : 4,257,000 7t ) & [F FE B8 (£ B
B E3,271,0008 7T (20214F : 4,105,000
WIT) 120223 A31 B ERER - B EH
AFIFHEBEEMERERIN - HEWH
TS INERIAT ©
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PAYMENTS FOR LIFE INSURANCE 15. XNEkE

In November 2017, the Group paid premium for a life M2017F 118 - AEBHRSRRE(R
insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure Ms. BDXNRE  UARARESFRLZ TR
Cheung, a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy, R o RBRE X ARREFEARK
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. At inception B8 c RRERER  AEESIMBE
of the Insurance Policy, the Group paid a gross premium of H43,250,0007% 7T 2 1 #81R % 6,500,0007%5
HK$6,500,000 by two instalments of HK$3,250,000 each. The JC o AN B AR AR HRE - WA AR IE
Group can terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and can AERBRENRSEBEKIE S @ %k
receive cash at the date of termination based on the account PEETDRIBRENGRRIGHEEE RN
value of the Insurance Policy, which is determined as the gross BERAE(PEIREEREFERIERE
premium paid with the accrued returns (as further details set BRRE ) (1F ) EFEST B WAL F 2 T
out below) after netting of the charges (including a surrender BIRE(GHBHEHN T °

charge if the termination of the Insurance Policy is within the
first policy year), if any, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Insurance Policy.

The Group shall receive returns (with guaranteed minimum R B H MR E A BERRUER B R (R & A
return at rates of 3.75%, 3% and 2% per annum for the REFE  BF_AREFERE=FF 1+
first policy year, second policy year and third to tenth policy BREFENREZELBREFNED A A
years, respectively) during the effective period of the Insurance 3.75% * 3% K%2%) - RRBIEFEENS
Policy. The directors of the Company have no intention to HEMRE12EARKIERE - AltZe
terminate the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end BN 20214 KX 2022F3 A31 B n S RIER
of each of the reporting periods and, therefore, the amounts FEE ©
were classified as non-current assets as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 16. EZRHMEBWRE BER
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS RNRKIE
2022 AOVA
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAIT
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIA 60,427 51,347
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEREE (631) (631)
59,796 50,716
Refundable rental deposits AREIMHESZS 639 677
Other receivables H At fEUGRIR 3,636 528
Prepayments for purchase of materials BEEMEHBENRBLS BE
and subcontracting fees 11,448 6,637
Prepaid expenses TEf R 2,461 2,471
Utilities and other deposits NREEREMES 151 207

78,131 61,236
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 16. ESREMBEWRFIE - R#ER

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(@  Asat 1 April 2020, the gross carrying amount of the Group’s
trade receivables was HK$41,730,000 and no allowance of
credit losses was made.

(b)  Included in the refundable rental deposits as at 31 March 2022
were amounts of HK$45,000 (2021: HK$45,000), HK$20,000
(2021: HK$20,000), HK$109,000 (2021: HK$109,000) and
HK$58,000 (2021: HK$58,000) paid to Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung,
Shing Chak Development Limited (wholly-owned by Dr. Ko) and
Milan Development Limited (wholly-owned by Ms. Cheung).
The other refundable rental deposits as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 were paid to independent landlords.

Trade receivables represent amounts receivable for work
certified after deduction of retention money.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits for
customers. Recoverability of the amounts due from existing
customers is reviewed by the directors of the Company
regularly.

The Group allows generally a credit period of 7 to 90 days to
its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables of
the Group presented based on dates of work certified by
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers, that approximate to the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.

YRR ()
MizE -

(@) M2020F481H @ AEEHE S EKK
TE 48 BRI {E A41,730,00058 7T M 3 S (E &
EIERAE -

(b)  M202243A31H - AELOALIRS BIE
SR FEEL - RME - BHBEE
ERAR(AEELE2EHER) KB
BERAG(RERLZLEE2EHE)45000
770 (20214F : 45,000 7T) * 20,0007
7t (20214 : 20,0007 7L) * 109,000
7T (20214 : 109,000 7T ) & 58,000
JC(20214F : 58,000/ 7T) ° A2021F K&
20223 A3 1B EMAIREIE & Z X
FBLEE -

B RUGRRERNGRRE SRR RD &

& TIZRIA -

REMEFHFEPH - ARBETHELE
EPNEEERAAFNETFPHEERSE -
YREEFERNAINEEEHART]
E=TEMRT -

AEB—RETEEFTEORNEEH -

TXREPMZREMEEN  AERMRHE
RRREE PRIZC %8 T2 A B (8%
S AERE) 27N AKEE SRR
FRER AT ©

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
0 to 30 days 0£30K 19,998 33,684
31 to 90 days 31£90K 34,829 12,842
91 to 180 days 915 180K 922 -
Above 180 days 180K E 4,678 4,821
60,427 51,347
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEEERE (631) (631)

59,796 50,716
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group'’s trade receivables
balances are debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$5,600,000 (2021: HK$4,821,000) which are past due 90
days or more as at the reporting date and is not considered
as in default because these customers are in the process of
internal settlement procedures that the management of the
Group has acknowledged and approved the extended credit
period.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and refundable rental deposits are set out in note
31.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract assets as at 1
April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 amounting
to HK$106,041,000, HK$146,592,000 and HK$166,392,000,
respectively, represent the Group’s rights to considerations
from customers for the provision of E&M engineering services,
which arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant
services under such contracts but yet certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers;
and (ii) the customers withheld certain certified amounts
payable to the Group as retention money (i.e. retention
receivables) to secure the due performance of the contracts.

The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

16.

17.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B BBEFHES) - LB T ET)

ESRHMEVRRIE RER
FE 1 FRIE ()
MR2022F3 8318 - AEEE 5 EWRFIE

45886 15 4R BR T € B8 5,600,0007% 7T (2020
F 1 4,821,000 70) 2 FEUGRTE » 3% E K
EA RS B EIE 8 HI90 R A BT IHAE
REHN RESEMEFPEEETHNILE
Hi2F  AEEEEEERRATIELR
ZEH8 -

5 REMBYRIEARATREEES RS
ERE R RIS BN MRE31 ©

BHNEERARE

720204818 - 202143831 H %2022
FIANAMNAEB AN EENERAED
B 5 106,041,000/ 75 * 146,592,000/% 7T
166,392,000 7T * FEASEBEGIZHEKE
TREREmmEFP KR EARET - ZE
BEFRUATERESE : VANEEREZSE
AHTERBRFRBERS BN AEREE
EE SR B R E AR RER
)Si(n)%)ﬂ%%zli‘i@FEHEU%T:F*Z.Mm
EARES(NEKRES) @ UEREZA
BITEH4 °

AEERNAHNEESNAOT

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Provision of E&M engineering services  #4E T2 RFG G 167,960 148,160
Less: Allowance of credit losses W EEEERE (1,568) (1,568)
166,392 146,592
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(continued)

The retention receivables included in contract assets are to be
settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

17. BHEEREBE@W

BHBEERNNEWRE S G RERRE
=R (I N

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHT T

Within one year —FR 33,215 23,526
After one year —F i 37,397 42,354
70,612 65,880

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (293) (293)
70,319 65,587

The increases in contract assets during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021 were mainly due to: (i) the increases
in retention receivables as a result of increases in number of
ongoing and completed contracts under the defects liability
period during the years; and (i) changes in the size of contract
works that the relevant services were completed but yet been
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers at the end of the reporting
periods.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out
in note 31.

HE2022F K 20213 831 B IEFEH
BHWEERNTPEZHR : ()ETHER
RIEHARE TR A HEER A FE N
B EWRE SN R>)ERERIEE T
ERABRIRE R M AR ERE TR EMESE
B R ERMSk MR ERZBHELOITIER
HEH) o

BRBEEMNRENMSFFITENHES
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CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 17. EHNEEREE®W

(continued)

Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 R2020F4H1H ~ 20213 A31H 2022
March 2022 amounting to HK$2,218,000, HK$2,227,000 and FIANENELNEESDF52,218,000/5
HK$10,445,000 represent the Group’s obligation to transfer JT ~ 2,227,000/ 7T % 10,445,000/ 7T * 18
of E&M engineering services to customers for which the Group AEEBHETEREEZETASEDK
has received advance payments from the customers. EPRRFENTENRE P 2B -
Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2020 and 2021 have been M20205F R2021F4A1BHEHNEEE D
recognised as revenue for the years ended 31 March 2021 and IR B ZE2021F %2022 3 A31HILFE
2022 respectively. R ES ©

The increases in contract liabilities during the years ended BHE2022F K202163A31AIEFENE
31 March 2022 and 2021 were mainly due to advances by MEREMDEERNRARERRET
customers for certain new projects at initial stage at the end of IR B R ER B B P HIRGK ©

the reporting periods.

PLEDGED BANK BALANCES, BANK 18. CHIFRITHELR - MITEHRR
BALANCES AND CASH "

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s pledged bank balances M2022F3 8318 » AEERE EIFRTT
were fixed deposits with a bank that carried interest at fixed ERRRTEETH - REEFFENF
rates ranging from 0.21% to 0.31% per annum (2021: fixed 021%%E0.31% (20214F : EEFFEN
rates ranging from 0.08% to 0.11% per annum) and were F0.08%Z0.11% )5t B B BLIRTTRIASE
secured for the grant of performance bonds to the Group by EREHNBENRESERR - SEIFRTT
the bank. Included in pledged bank balances amounting to nil e T (20214 ¢ 15,186,000%7T )
(2021: HK$15,186,000), which were related to performance B B R E R —F R M ELIRE
bonds to be expired after one year from the end of the @B ARRBEHRIERIERE -
reporting period and was, therefore, classified as non-current #E— S EHB RN I FE25 ©

at the end of the reporting period. Further details are set out

in note 25.

Included in the Group’s bank balances and cash as at 31 MR2022F3A318 » XEERNRITESHRK
March 2022 was a fixed deposit with a bank with original REPR/—EFHRBITRABIHRA DR
maturity less than three months amounting to HK$20,000,000 =@ A ®TF3 + £ %5 420,000,0007% 7T
(2021: nil) which carried interest at a fixed rate of 0.52% per (20214F : &) » HIZEEFFZE0.52%5T
annum (2021: nil). B(20214F : 4&) -

The other bank balances carried interest at prevailing market M2022F3 8318 - A RITAEMRIZIRIT

interest rate at 0.001% (2021: 0.001%) as at 31 March 2022. T5H]Z0.001% (20214 :0.001% )5t E. °
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19. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS

19.

2021

20214F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FExT FHBT

Trade payables B S RENFE 23,103 69,914
Retention payables EMRES 12,229 12,564
Accruals EstE A 8,607 8,205
43,939 90,683

Included in the Group'’s trade and retention payables as at 31
March 2022 are amounts due to related parties amounting to
HK$1,747,000 (2021: HK$3,728,000), in aggregate, which are
trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable according
to the relevant agreements.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables of the
Group based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting

M2022F3A31H ' AEEE S ENMNR
HEEMRESRIEEMNBE 5 ZES
1,747,000 7T (20214 : 3,728,000/%5
UL ZEREARESUE &ER - 28
NZABBIER M REE -

AT R/RBERRAEEE ZEMNFRR
HREHOREDN

period:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
0 to 30 days 0Z30K 21,905 65,285
31 to 90 days 31290k 1,198 4,629
23,103 69,914

The credit period of trade payables granted by the Group’s
suppliers are usually within 30 days.

RASEHERRONESRNKEBREE
HIBEN30KRA -
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. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND 19. EZENREREMREEI

ACCRUALS (continued) REGTERm

The Group usually retains 5% to 10% of each interim AEEBRERAARKSERUREN S BEHE
payment to its subcontractors providing services to the Group REBEER BN KAIS% ZE10% 1ERER
as retention payables. According to the relevant contracts RE® - RIBEZZSBENEBAEL
with these subcontractors, 50% of the retention payables is 50% K EMHRE & BT NMETEMIE R &
usually released upon handing over of the residential units EBEBEEEMRINTESHEEARTHE
to respective owners by the developers for residential units 1B B & HBRIBTEE - MER T 50%H)FE
projects and completion of services under contracts for other MHREZ HR E X Z M EMMRE R %S E
projects, with the remaining 50% of the retention payables R&%E  NBEARTEBEMRES
to be released after six months of the first payment of the HAEELT -

retention payables. The retention payables of the Group are to
be settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Within six months NEA R 565 997

Within a period of more than six months 7~1& A LA H{B i@ —FHIA
but not exceeding one year 2,148 1,688
Within a period of more than one year — A EHJA 9,516 9,879
12,229 12,564

. BANK LOANS 20. SRITER

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Bank loans, secured and guaranteed SRITER . AR REER 206 347
Bank loans, unsecured and guaranteed $R{TE R @ B KA ER 14,335 14,675

14,541 15,022
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20. BANK LOANS (continued)

According to the relevant bank facilities letters, the bank loans
of the Group are payable as follows:

20. SR1ITER @

RIBEBRITRE M - AEENRITE
TERIT

2022 2021

2022F 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Within one year —FR 14,479 14,815
Within a period of more than one year —%F LA B N IB /4 HA A

but not exceeding two years 62 145
Within a period of more than two years R BT BB AEFHRN

but not exceeding five years - 62

14,541 15,022

The Group's bank loans as at 31 March 2022 were lent by a
bank under its bank facilities granted to the Group. The bank
facilities were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee given by
the Company (2021: guaranteed by the corporate guarantee
given by the Company). In addition, the secured bank loan
was secured by the Group’s carpark space (2021: secured by
the Group’s carpark space).

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid
bank facilities, the bank may at any time without prior
notice, modify, cancel or suspend the banking facilities,
at the sole discretion of such bank; including, without
limitation, cancelling any unutilised facilities and declaring
any outstanding amount to be immediately due and payable.
Accordingly, the above bank loans were classified as current
liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2022 was a bank
loan of HK$206,000 (2021: HK$347,000), which bore variable
interest rate at 2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate
quoted by the relevant bank (2021: variable interest rate at
2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the
relevant bank). The remaining bank loan as at 31 March 2022
bore variable interest rate at 1.5% per annum above one-
month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") (2021:
variable interest rate at 1.5% per annum above one-month
HIBOR).

ANEBR 20224331 BRRITERIH
—FRITREER FAEBMRITHE G
e RITRMEUAEENEELN RAQF
REMNCEERQ21E - AEENFEE
7 R AR AR ZEER) EER o bt
Gh o BEBEITEFARNEENEEN
(20214 : REBEREEAL) (EHEA o

BELMIRITRMESREEE - RITAIBE
HERTEMBAS LB THERER] - BUE
HEERITRE - BREETREARIUEEMR
REFARE RS HERAREESTEEE
HA R FEA o I - 720224 2 20214F3 A
318 - LSRTERDEARBAE -

MR2022F3 A31 HRRITTERBIE—EIR
1TE 206,000/ 7T (20214 : 347,0007%
J0) - BARSRITIIRE B RERN X
2%HE BN ERR (20214 - ILABRASRITAT
HEBHEENEF2%FFNE)FE °
M2022F3 A31 B NIRTTERIRE S
BT AEFRS((BEBRITAERE]) —
A2 FEFERTI 5%t 8 (20214 : & &
BERITRZERE— @A 2 ZBFE1.5%:t

Be
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LEASE LIABILITIES 21. HEAE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Non-current IERED 1,065 1,410
Current mE 2,543 2,847
3,608 4,257
Maturity analysis EIFIE D
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Within one year —FR 2,543 2,847
Within a period of more than one year —%F I HENBBRELRR
but not exceeding two years 812 1,163
Within a period of more than two years R B NBBAFEHR
but not exceeding five years 253 247
3,608 4,257
The Group does not expose to a significant liquidity risk with AEEWEEREEESEHEMENEAR
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored PEEAR HEABRAEENNER
within the Group's treasury function. BENESIE ©
SHARE CAPITAL 22. |R&
Details of share capital of the Company are as follows: RABIRRA Z BT

Number of
shares HK$'000

B EE T

Ordinary shares with par value of BIREE0.01/E Y mAR -
HK$0.01 each:
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 72020 4H 1H + 20216 3A31H
31 March 2022 }2022%3A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: B 217 MU @A
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 7202056F4H1H + 2021463 H31H
31 March 2022 }202263A31H 800,000,000 8,000
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

23. EERIE

2022 AOVA

2022%F 20214F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Deferred tax assets RIETHIEEE 363 363
The movements in deferred tax assets during both years: REEEE  BREHIBEEEZESHNT -

At 1 April 2020 1K2020%F4A18

ECL allowance Total

FHEE

BERE et

HK$'000
THET

HK$'000
TAT

Credit to profit or loss (Note 10) WEzEET A (MIEE10) 363 363
At 31 March 2021 and 2022 2021 202293 H31H 363 363

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 18 September 2019,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme is valid and
effective for a period commencing from 18 September 2019
and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 18
October 2019. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide an incentive or reward for the grantees for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company to any full-time or part-time
employees, consultants or potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers who, in the sole opinion of the board of
directors of the Company, has contributed or will contribute to
the Group and whom the board of directors of the Company
may in its absolute discretion select and subject to such
conditions as it may think fit.

24. BB RESTE

BIER2019F9 A 18H @AM IRZ
R AR RIERA—EERERTE ([ BRE
sH8l1) - BERRERTEI82019F9H 18H
12 BRI AR R AR - WEHZE2019F10 A
18BARARBRMARB R EhHAFIEE
o BREA B B R BRE S HRE AR
AERNEBT{EZ ERISOBTERR ©

RIBBIESE - ARAESEARIBM
AR RS EALAIN B R R0 E ] 2 Bl
BEE  FRANEERE  FEHA 1T
BABSHSERE (BEHTES - JEATT
EENEUFNTESR)  RARRESE
EERARELIEAAEEBELERAE
e - TP - AAA - RERERIA
EARBEEE2RNBERERTAEH
BREZATETARBARR LA B
Pt o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. The total number of ordinary shares of
the Company which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the ordinary shares in issue as
at the date of passing of the relevant resolution adopting the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any twelve-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
14 days after the date of the offer, upon the Company
received the duplicate offer document comprising acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with
the consideration of HK$1.00. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determined by the directors of the
Company, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme.

Unless otherwise determined by the board of directors of the
Company at its absolute discretion, there is no requirement of
a minimum period for which an option must be held before an
option can be exercised. In addition, there is no performance
target which must be achieved before any of the options can
be exercised.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

=0 FAALN , AN SEE S B o=
Veai 755 ot 3Y 17/ LA 78 T Y1 7N )

24. BRRRERTE )

PR IR BB AR AE AT 81 I AN &8 B ER 49 10 (E fr] &
BT EIE BB ERFITENE A
TERREETFER AT RERITHRD RS
HE  AETERBALRTEEETYE
BRAE30% - RIRIEE IR ERTE R A
SEEMEMBREASIB FRENHME
FERR TR ] TR REBITH AR A
LBRAE - AT EHRBRNERE
SMAEIAERBAE AEBITERRD
10% ° JMFARABES - ZFETHRABK
FTERER RS EMBEAZBRE -
AREEBARNTBLIENTESIE -
gEAN - A+ =@ A M E T A AR E
BRRRBYIFATES « iS5
EAZEMERE - EEAREEBREAR
AEIEBEITEREBMN0.1% » REEEA
BEE BB E A RERARZAAT
BT ERTE ) HE5,000,000% 7T -
AEERBRAS FERRER -

BHEREZZNATNEZHABRHRI4E
A RARBREBOXMHEIN(EPEE
EBEAERRE ZBIRAER ) ER
1008 T2 REBRES - IR LBREZ
TESEEARRESERE - HAREMHE
BREREZNEREATSERTF A
BRI P IR ATAR L IRSREFTARIR ©

BIFRARAEZS2ENEETE - A
I 4 AR E P AR ] T 1T AT AR5 B BB Ak
MR HIR - Ubsh - TREAEAIREARE R T
TEAAESNRERER
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

25.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the
board of directors of the Company, but in any event shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the ordinary
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on the date of the offer of the share
options, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares of the company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares.

No option was granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since its effective date on 18
September 2019 and there was no outstanding share option as
at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2022, performance bonds of HK$67,542,000
(2021: HK$83,587,000) were given by banks in favour of the
Group's customers as security for the due performance and
observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its
customers to whom performance guarantees have been
given, such customers may demand the banks to pay to them
the sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The Group will
become liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The
performance guarantees will be released upon completion of
the E&M engineering services.

Included in the performance bonds as at 31 March 2022 were
HK$39,159,000 (2021: HK$57,442,000), which were issued
under the bank facilities granted by a bank to the Group and
such bank facilities were secured by the Group’s pledged
bank balances (note 18) and corporate guarantee given by the
Company in favour of the bank. The remaining performance
bonds as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were issued under the
bank facilities granted by another bank to the Group and such
bank facilities were secured by the Group’s carpark space and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the
bank.

24,

25.

BT 8l

BRECITEERAREESET '
ERAIBELAUTZESE © ()RE
BEZLBEH(ZEALEH )BT AR
BRI ZARNFEBRWTE ()R
EAHMBRREESX BB EREER
FTRZ AN AR E@AEFHWTE K4S
NRIERER CEE

BAEKHA 201979 A 18A 1 - ARt
SIET W EE A BREERDL - 1716 - 5T
Sk BRR2022F K%20219F3 8318
O 4 1 R AT {5 RO BB A o

&£ 1R BR

M 202243 31 H © 67,542,000 % T
(20214 : 83,587,000/ 7T ) K /B L 1R &
SHBITUREERFAXTAED © {E
AASBLZERTRETAEBEHERS
ZEEIMHEHNETEENER - A%
BEREERELBORENEFRES AR
BERRE  ZERFPUERBPITAFEX
NEACHEIEBERRTNEE - ~5
B eRAEHZERITELEREFENE
T - BRI A E T 12 BRI ST Ak R
[E@ o

R2022F K2021F3HA31H ' BYIRES
£13539,159,000/8 7T (20214F : 57,442,000
BT ) IRIBIRITRAIANEER HMRITRVE T
LAB1T - MABBRITRERASEED KA
RITAEER(MIFE18) R Rl MERTTHR LAY
NERFBIEVEIR - 720224 202143 A
31BEMHBRTROREE HIRE S —HIRTT
MASEREORITHE AT mE
FARITRERAEBNEENRAQFR
SRITIRIEM R AR BIEER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B = HAHI) - L ETTIT)

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 26.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities

BMETBREERENYR

TRALARERERDMELRBENE

arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BERERIREET  WEEIHAH
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows

EXARERBRAKMNAKREGERSRE
ROBRBERDIMARERENRER
BRRHRERE -

as cash flows used in financing activities.

Interest (ES Bank Dividend
payable liabilities loans payable Total
FEFIS HERE RITEM EARE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT THT TAT FHT FAT
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1H = 2,788 483 = 3,271
Cash changes: B &g .
Interest paid BEfFE (33) (142) = = (175)
Repayments of bank loans BRIRITEN - = (1,461) = (1,461)
Repayments of lease liabilites EEHERE = (3,141) = = (3,141)
New bank loan raised HEERITEN - - 16,000 - 16,000
Dividend paid BERRE = = = (25,600) (25,600)
Non-cash changes: FEH S EE -
Finance costs recognised [REEAG RN 33 142 - = 175
Additions of lease contracts ~ EAHEEAH
(Note 27) (FitE27) - 4,610 - - 4,610
Dividend declared (Note 11) B EIREE (HHEE11) - - - 25,600 25,600
At 31 March 2021 1202143 A31H - 4,257 15,022 - 19,279
Cash changes: Bk
Interest paid BT (159) (150) = = (309)
Repayments of bank loans BERITEK = = (16,848) = (16,848)
Repayments of lease liabilites EEMREEE = (3,888) = = (3.888)
New bank loan raised MERBITER - - 16,367 - 16,367
Dividend paid BERRE - - - (49,600) (49,600)
Non-cash changes: FE 52
Finance costs recognised BRI TR A 159 150 - - 309
Additions of lease contracts ~ EAFEEHK
(Note 27) (P5E27) - 3,239 - - 3,239
Dividend declared (Note 11)  EE= RS (KizE11) - - - 49,600 49,600
At 31 March 2022 ®20223A31H - 3,608 14,541 - 18,149
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27.

28.

o — —)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered
into rental agreements that increases its right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities by HK$3,239,000 (2021: HK$4,610,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme which is registered
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF
Scheme, there will not be any forfeited contribution available
to reduce the contribution payable by the Group.

The Group’s retirement benefit scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss as set out in
note 8 represent contributions payable to the funds by the
Group at the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

27.

28.

FEIRERS

HZE2022F3HA31BILEE  NEBFIZ
MW= SNEFERAREEREERE
3,239,000/ 75 (20214 :4,610,000/8 7T ) °

RIKERETE

AEE S MARER MR TEE B RB]
EREMNECEERELNRES T
2 - RESHENEEBUNAEENE
B DRBIUZFEAEHOESES - R
ERESFENAR - BRERERHEAS
BB ANFTROLE KA EIHR - ARE
BRRESENERAEERRIEEIE
AR HR - RIFBRESRE - $1E€F
EAER KA B ASE B E
R -

M S8R EL - AR EEBES A &M IEH
BRARBNE IR KB BET R - HE
RASEIZEERAGTANL ZRAESE
EIEEK
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Other than the transactions and balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

(1) Subcontracting charges and others
paid to Shun Tat Air Conditioning
Engineering Company, a company
controlled by a grandson of the uncle

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B =7 a8H) - GLGETTST)

29. B ARG
(a) Bl BT3Bz E b 20 TR M 52

BT RR 5 MRS - AR BN ANE
EEEBAIFIENATRS

2022
20225

2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET

HK$'000
TERr

(1) RELRIRRE(—RHES
BB A TEHAR])
XD BEREM

of Dr. Ko 4,081 7,132
(2) Subcontracting charges paid to Yuk ~ (2) AIfBEEEEMHTRRAT(—M

Shing Advertising & Decoration ReEtzlR,/ BEHHA

Engineering Co., a company controlled CDSARpaRE =

by a brother of Dr. Ko 130 931
(3) Purchases of construction materials ~ (3) MEREXARAE(—HZE

from Mibuka Denki Electrical Controls BTEGIN AR EEEEMH

Limited, a company controlled by Dr.

Ko 184 171
(4) Purchases of construction materials ~ (4) FIEHZEAESAR AR (—H

and others from Chit Shing Air BT AR FERIR A

Conditioning Trading Limited, a A B EREME R E A

company controlled by a grandson of

the uncle of Dr. Ko 35,082 16,362
(5) Staff costs paid to employees who are (5) [AIEE (SELHETFRELZK

a nephew and a niece of Dr. Ko and RETHNHE AL EFRE

brothers, a brother-in-law, a nephew )Y ETA

and nieces of Ms. Cheung 3,139 3,302
(6) Amounts paid to Shing Chak (6) MFERERERAR(—HES

Development Limited, a company BT2ERBNAR)XNFHIA

wholly-owned by Dr. Ko (Note i) (Bt &F)

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities -~ HERBEF ST 12 28

— Lease liabilities ~-HEEE 644 573
(7) Amounts paid to Milan Development  (7) FKBEZEEBRDE(—EHE

Limited, a company wholly-owned by T R2EHRANRR) I FFE

Ms. Cheung (Note ii) (i)

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities - HEBRZAERX 6 15

— Lease liabilities —HERE 343 306
(8) Amounts paid to Dr. Ko (Note iii) (8) ®ELZAIFRIA (P i)

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBRZAERX 10 4

— Lease liabilities —HERE 258 63
(9) Amounts paid to Ms. Cheung (Note iv) (9) [A13R &+ < 2B (i 5Eiv)

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —-HEBREZAERX 5 2

— Lease liabilities —HERE 115 28
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

(continued)

The above transactions were conducted in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$53,000 (2021:
HK$689,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$55,000 (2021: HK$698,000).

(i) As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$28,000 (2021:
HK$367,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$29,000 (2021: HK$372,000).

(iii)  As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$195,000 (2021:
HK$454,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$198,000 (2021: HK$456,000).

(iv)  As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$87,000 (2021:
HK$202,000) and the carrying amount of the lease
liabilities was HK$88,000 (2021: HK$203,000).

Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation of key management personnel represents
the remuneration of the directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group during the year were as
follows:

AR B A5 ERaR B AE

29. BB A RS @)

(a) &

LR 5 THRIE AR B 15

e

V15 FE

BiAE -

(0

(i)

(iii)

(b)

E2:3

M202243A318 - BB E R #E
& E 2 IR {E A53,0007 7T (2021
& : 689,000/ L) A RFEEE
Z BRTEI{E &55,000/8 7T (20214 -
698,000/ 7T) °

M202243A318 - BB E R
& E 2 IR {E A28,0007 7T (2021
F 367,000 L) ARTEEEE
Z BRTEI{E /29,0007 7T (20214 -
372,000/ 7T) °

M202243A31H @ HHEEREE
E 2 BRHE {8 A 195,000 7T (2021
& 454,000 ) AREEREZ
BR [ {8 /5 198,00078 7T (2021 4F :
456,000/87C) °

M202243A318 - 1B E B
& E 2 IR {E A87,0007 7T (2021
F 202,000 L) ARTEEERE
2 BRTEI{E /88,0008 7T (20214 -
203,000/ 7T) °

FTEEEASRMH

EEABFHEAFEARRE

ERAEERREBENFM - AT

FR

2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Short-term benefits G HA F 7,350 6,798
Post-employment benefits Bt BSR 12 r EM 84 72
7,434 6,870
As at 31 March 2022, the Group was granted certain (c) 72022438310 @ AEEEE L

bank facilities which were secured by personal
guarantees of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung (2021:
personal guarantees of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung) at nil
consideration.

RIT
Bt

BE - RFRITRETEENS
KR L HYfE A FELR (20214F -

=E T RERZ A EALRER)FER -
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30.

31.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes bank loans and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
20 and 21 respectively, net of pledged bank balances, bank
balances and cash disclosed in note 18, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium, other reserve and retained profits.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the management of the
Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, issuance of new
shares and the raise of borrowings or repayment of existing
debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

(b= EiHs) - LB TTIT)

30. EXEBERE
A B IR A AN D TR A [ B e i
B RSB E AT R A T -
BRI E B - A B G B R
BB R o

AEENEASEBEBREFEL(BEDH
RHE20 R HENRTERLEER
B) » KRS EIRRITHAR - RITHEBRR
B (W18 KE) AR AR BHEA A
iR (BREETRA - BEE &
fEERRE&A)

AEEBAZBIPMERINHE N ERR

;'_Ec

AEEEEEE MR ELRGE - ERIL
B —#n  AEEEEESEETEES
AR EBEREBNER - AEERES
SIS~ BITHRO RERERHEE
REBHTEERRBERRE -

31. €T A
SRTEER

Year ended 31 March
HBZ3H31ALLEE
2022 2021
20214
HK$’000

THETT

20224
HK$’000
FET

Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT BR M EE 249,143 295,781
Financial liabilities EMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEEN AT RN S mMEE 49,873 97,500
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31.

1) St =z =)
s E,{,,,j\,/g:;“;“/j\/

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, refundable rental deposits, pledged bank
balances, bank balances and cash, trade and retention
payables and bank loans. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

The Group’s operations expose it to a number of financial
risks: principally the interest rate risk, the credit risk and the
liquidity risk. Continuous monitoring of these risks ensures
that the Group is protected against any adverse effects of such
risks so far as it is possible and foreseeable.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and bank loans (see notes 18
and 20, respectively, for details of these balances). Fixed bank
deposits at fixed interest rate exposed the Group of fair value
interest rate risk. The Group does not have a policy on cash
flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should need arise.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being under taken globally, including the replacement
of some interbank offered rates (“IBORs"”) with alternative
nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the Group's
risk management strategy arising from the interest rate
benchmark reform and the progress towards implementation
of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under
“interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.

A sensitivity analysis is not presented because, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, reasonably possible change
in interest rate would not result in significant impact to the
post-tax profit of the Group.

31. €T HEwmwm

M EREEBERBER

AEENTESRTABIEES RAME
WikiE - ALRME SRS - EEMRITA
B RITEBRRIAS EHENFHELE
MREERBITER - ZEERTANF
BREMERE - BZEFSR T AERN
TR\ B DA e g fa] 2 AR 5% S R B O BUR B T
X AREEEEEEREEXFAR
PAREGR B B A 200 B he B PR HE 1

AEENRGEEARRSBMBRR
IBEENERR FERREARBES
R - FHEERZERRABRAEEE
AR RAERI B R ER TR X% SRR
B ERI A MEE -

AEERTBRITEBKIRITER(BRAZ
LHHBOFE DB R HE18%20) HERIR
ERENERER o REEMXGENEE
ROTFEREAEE@EERFENXRR -
AEEYERFERBITERE REL
B - AT > BEEEEENXER - A
KT ERZBEIPEANEREE -

EREAHTEMREEETRAMN
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, contract
assets, refundable rental deposits, pledged bank balances
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets and contract assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company have delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debtors. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables
and contract assets. The management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information.

Impairment loss under ECL model of HK$631,000 (2021:
HK$631,000) and HK$1,568,000 (2021: HK$1,568,000) are
recognised for the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets, respectively, as at 31 March 2022 and no impairment
loss was made for the year. Average loss rates for the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets are approximately
1.0% and 0.9%, respectively as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
approximately 1.2% and 1.1%). Details of the quantitative
disclosure are set out below in this note.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B LT A2 pA LN, M o S =)
(ERAB it A8 TSN )

31. €T Hwm@m

BEEREEBERBEE@®

=B R B E TG
FERBREASENISHEREEGHNE
EMERAEERBER AR - XEH
MEERBREIZREE S KE M E YK
B AHEE  FIROESEKRE 2R
RITEBRRIRTTHER - AEEAEFHT
AR EMEERAEN L LS F
BEMANEERBRNEERR -

EPERELNE ZERTAREH
SEEREEERR  ARAREZERIK
B BEEEEERBRERRER U
FE 4R BRER 1 A8 R AE 17 B Yo [0 780 1 JE W R
Ko BT - ARARAEERRAEEN
EERREKNEZE -

AEEEBEBMBEHREERFIRABIC
TEFERBEEER AR SRR
FREAREMNEEERE2HNEREESR -
AEEEEERFABEERRHAEIE
AR BRI - BRRE R HE R
W 1R (B B e W R R B AT RUE R
IEETESRKRBERANEENE TR
HEEERSHE - At BREXDERER
EREHFHANBEERRIINZOER
AT EERHSH - AT ERHEL

%%o

M20229F3A31H * DRIEAAEBNE
SRERBFBRANEERRBHEEERE
2 TR E ET 18 631,000 7T (2021 4F -
631,000/ 7T ) % 1,568,000/ 7T (20214 :
1,568,000/ 7C) * MRAARFEE - BIEIED
EDREEE - 2022938318 @ K&
ENE S EKFIERENEENTER
RO R4951.0% 50.9% (20214 : 1.2%
F1.1%) - EEFETEFIBEHRAKFE R °
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other receivables and refundable rental deposits

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount
of ECL of other receivables and refundable rental deposits
based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment history
and/or past due status of respective other receivables and
forward-looking information. There has been no significant
increase in credit risks of the Group’s other receivables and
refundable rental deposits. No impairment was recognised for
the Group'’s other receivables and refundable rental deposits as
at 31 March 2022 and 2021 and for the years then ended as
the 12m ECL, if any, is insignificant.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances

The management of the Group assesses that the Group’s
pledged bank balances and bank balances are at low credit
risk and no impairment was recognised as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 and for the years then ended because they are
placed with reputable banks with good external credit ratings,
and ECL, if any, is insignificant.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & B I8 8RR MicE
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31. €T HEwmwm

BEEREEEBERBEE @)

1= E & f2 R e (B 7712 (4)

A fER IR R AR I T

AEEEREREMBEMEBUGIENR
EMEERR - BRER - B GREEER S
AR R BT RE ME B AL - 42 (R Bl FE Uk AR SR AL 2E
HEITRERTAE + DA AT E fh B UGRIE & 7]
RO ESTEHREEBESTE - ~A5F
MEMERRERAREASZENEER
[\ Bex U £ TR E 3L AN o H20224F 202143
A3MBREEZSHBIEFEWERAE
&) H b B 5K K T AR B A iR FERR
B RAANREAEHEEBER(INE)E
o

BB FFRI TR RIRTTAZ £
AEBERETHECIRRITARRIET
EEREE B RS AR A BT 20224F 2021
FIA3NAREEZE L FEBERRR
B REAZEEHTERRAEERTEE
HEINEME B AMIRTT - MIEREEE
B(E)EM -
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31. €T B

SR ETE EERBCE (&)

. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

1= E &5 R e (B 7712 (41)
M E A EENERMEENANEEM
= AEBEHASEERR TR EEE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
For assessment of the ECL of the Group's financial assets

and contract assets, the Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

AT R -

Internal

credit Trade receivables

rating Description and contract assets Other financial assets

A EZREWRFIER

FEFR  FHHA BREE HitemEE

Level 1 The counterparty has great ability of repayment, Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
low risk of default and has no history of not credit-impaired
impairment loss.

F—& HFERERENRIT - BEREREBERE ZHEREEBE-—TE 12EABREEEE
BB - EERIE

Level 2 The counterparty has good ability of repayment, Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
which may be influenced by macro not credit-impaired
environment and economic situation.

F_R HFFEEENRMT X ABREREE Z2HEHEESE-1E 12@AEBEEEE
AR E - EERE

Level 3 The counterparty has ability of repayment but Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
usually settles in full after due date. not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

E=M HFFAEREN  BRFTRIHBAEER FHESMEEERE - IR 2HRHEEERE TR
WEH o EERIE EERE

Level 4 The counterparty may not have ability of Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
repayment, and is evidenced to be credit-impaired credit-impaired
credit-impaired.

EJUSE HFERFRTEERES)  BEREGERE 2HEHREEEE- FHEMEEER-B2EE
[\fg BEEERE HE

Level 5 The counterparty has no ability to repay its Amount is written off Amount is written off
debts and the receivable is not expected
to be collectable.

EhR HFEAWREREEE S - FHAAIREEK SESHE SR M

E o
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. T Eum)
Financial risk management objectives and MR R EE B EREBUR ()
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =R BB (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFMN2022F K2021F3 A31HASE
financial assets and contract assets as at 31 March 2022 and EnemEERGNEENEERR (HE
2021, which are subject to ECL assessment: TIEHEEEEFE)

Gross carrying amount
as at 31 March
M3A3MAZARESEHE

12m ECL or Internal

lifetime ECL credit rating 2022 2021
128A A&

2HEMEESR FENR 20225 20214F

HK$°000 HK$’000

TET FAT

Financial assets at
amortised cost:

R SER AT ER 2R
BE
Trade receivables Lifetime ECL Level 1 45,291 26,331
& N KRIE (not credit-impaired) F—H
= HTEEEEEE Level 2 - 5,251
(WEEERE) F_H
Level 3 15,136 19,765
E=
Other receivables 12m ECL Level 3 3,636 528
E b el FRIA (not credit-impaired) F=/R
1218 AFEEA (= E 518
(WEEERE)
Refundable rental 12m ECL Level 2 639 677
deposits 12{8 ATEHEEEE FH
AREIAEES
Pledged bank balances 12m ECL Level 1 41,807 57,442
BIRIRRITAE SR 12{8 ATE B = EE1E
F—R
Bank balances 12m ECL Level 1 143,265 186,418
IR1TH SR 1218 AFEHA (= E 518
F—R
Other item:
Hfhg g :
Contracts assets Lifetime ECL Level 1 128,794 78,445
BHEE (not credit-impaired) £—R
ZHTEEEEEE Level 2 26,016 26,405
(W EEERE) Rt 14
Level 3 13,150 43,310

E=
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Allowance for credit losses

During the current year, the movements in allowance for
credit losses that has been recognised for trade receivables
and contract assets were as follows:

At 1 April 2020 1202054418

Credit losses recognised, net of reversal

31.

EREREEREE - HIRED

(B = HAHI) - L ETTIT)

€T Hum)
SR ETE EERBCE (&)
1= E &5 R e (B 7712 (41)

1= BEETR AR
RAFE - B ZRUKIARE N EER

Trade
receivables
BEZEW
MIE

Not credit-
impaired

Contract
assets

EREE
Not credit-
impaired
(Lifetime
ECL)
FEERE
(2HA7RH
FEER)
HK$'000
T

(Lifetime
ECL)
FEERE
(ZHATEHA
FEER)
HK$'000
BT

#et
HK$'000
TAT

631 1,568 2,199

At 31 March 2021 and 2022

MN2021F %202243A31H

631 1,568 2,199

The Group has concentration of credit risk because 45% of
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2022
(2021: 40%) were due from the Group’s top five customers.
The Group's top five customers are sizeable and reputable
companies. The management of the Group closely monitors
the subsequent settlement of the customers. In this regard,
the management of the Group considers the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

HAR2022F3A31BESEWRFERELD
BERL5% (20214 : 40%) KRB ANEEH
AARF AEBBEFEERR - &
ENAARE AR BEERIFHNAR o
AEBEEERYERTEFPNEAELES
e HUME  ARBEEERAEAEE
NEERBRE AERE
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. @M T Em

Financial risk management objectives and MR R EE B E R EBUR (@)
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk REBELEE

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEEMBEREBERER(WNER)E
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of BEHFEMEEE M 2 RER TS -
borrowings, as appropriate.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual TREFMLBIBEBBEE L, HEOEREEH

AEEEREBEORBAOIBA - ZX

maturity for its financial liabilities according to the terms of the

relevant contracts/agreements. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The tables include both
interest and principal cash flows.

DERReBEBNRBRASREENS
%@ﬂﬁ%?&x*iﬁﬁ’]ﬁ*i BHEmRE - B

Ii

L Ry

/— B8

HRITIE

BITEEER AR B

Tﬁg/\ﬁiﬂl HERITEREE
?E%—tﬁ*iﬁvﬁx
HABIREHEERAPETE - ZxB1E
FERACHERE °

Ht TR A ENn S

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within  Six months More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  six months  to one year one year cash flows amount
il RER ~MER AR E
Fi55= ~MEAR 2-F —FHE REAH fRH{E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT TAT AT TAT THET
Asat31March2022  R2022%3A31E
Trade and retention ECT V)
payables FEfRES N/A R 23,667 2,149 9,516 35,332 35,332
Bank loans - variable rate  $R{TE R %2 1.68 14,541 - - 14,541 14,541
38,208 2,149 9,516 49,873 49,873
Lease liabilities BERE 3.00 1,544 1,086 1,101 3,731 3,608
As at 31 March 2021 ®2021%3A31R
Trade and retention BHENFER
payables EfRES N/A i 71,165 6,125 5,188 82,478 82,478
Bank loans - variable rate  R{TEFH %8 1,68 15,022 - - 15,022 15,022
86,187 6,125 5,188 97,500 97,500
Lease liabilities BERE 3.00 1,640 1,308 1,442 4390 4,257
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. €M T Emwm)

Financial risk management objectives and MR EE B E R EBUR (@)
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBEL/EE #)

As disclosed in note 20, the Group’s bank loans under the WM EE20FF IR 58 - AKERITRE THIER
banking facilities of the Group, might be immediately due T‘IETA AR AREELBAAEEN
and repayable on demand by the relevant bank without prior BN T ABRA R T SR AN B EA(ER -
notice to the Group.

Taking into account the Group's financial position, the ZRIASENTBEMRR AEEEEE
management of the Group does not believe that it is probable REABITTARAI B 1T{E BB Z kBN
that the bank will exercise its discretionary right to demand B AEEEREMRE  2SRITEX
immediate repayment. The management of the Group AR R AR R T RL B SR PrEt Y a1 B E X
believes that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance HEAEE - FBERTER

with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the relevant
bank facilities letters, details of which are set out in the tables
below:

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within  Six months More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  six months  to one year one year cash flows amount

i BEXRR ~EA RERRE
PRI ~ERR B—F —FhE REAE SREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR TAT TAT TATL TAT

As at 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H
Bank loans - variable rate  $R{TE R %2 1.68 8332 6,267 62 14,661 14,541

As at 31 March 2021 12021538310

Bank loans - variable rate  $4TEH %8 1.68 8,144 6,800 211 15,155 15,022
The amounts included above for variable interest rate fin )% B R gy & ibﬁ/”:”ﬁ’\iﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁgm
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to RISt A - J:L?FME% EY=RE PR
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of AneEsgHRg

interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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31.

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach
has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA
will co-exist.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had variable-rate bank
loans that are linked to HIBOR which will continue HIBOR to
maturity.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Company has direct and indirect shareholdings of the
following subsidiaries:

31.

32.

€M I BEmwm
RS EEEEREBEE @)

FIFBENE
BEATLERRFIER((BTRRFIIE
B ORREERBBRITAXRENE
RA2EFNX  BHERBLLIAEELEENEE
RITAEF SN - BRECRBZER
KRR EBRTAERKERBTHER
FOREBH AT

R2022F3H31H » Z"EEFHRFER
TRFEFRBIZFHF R BIRITE T 4
HERARBRITAXEFREEZEEHA -

LHT AL FHEGTE
AEBEEERE  WREVMBHRRAE
BENAARNEREERSRBENE
MmEEEQNAERS °

Fi 8 2 R R
AR RE TSI BA RS EE R
fi

Equity interest
attributable to the
Group
rEEEGRE

Issued and
Name of Place of Place of fully paid
subsidiary incorporation operations share capital
WE ERTR
DEEH FEMR A L ReEmy BRBRE
Directly held:
BEERE:
Ascend Group BVI Hong Kong HK$2
Holdings Limited
Ascend Group
Ascend Group EERAHE B 2B
Holdings Limited
Ascend Group
Indirectly held:
B#ERE
Chit Tat Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000,000
ez BE BE 5,000,000/

2022 2021

20225 20214

Principal activities

100% 100%  Investment holding

100% 100% HREER

100% 100%  Provision of E&M
engineering services

100% 100% RRHBETRRRG
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32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. ftB A B w@

Equity interest

attributable to the
Group
rEEEGRE
Issued and
Name of Place of Place of fully paid
subsidiary incorporation operations share capital 2022 2021  Principal activities
WS BERTR
NAEH A L2 gk BRRE  202F  2021F FEEH
Accel Innovations Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales and production
Limited of disinfection spray
equipment and
accessories
RREMERAR BE &R 10,000%7T 100% 100% HEEFREREHN
HEREE
Accel Development  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Inactive
Limited
R ERR BB BB 1,000,000/ 7 100% 100% EEE%
ARAT
Accel Green Building Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - Investment holding
Limited (Note)
REEEARRE]  BA BE 10,000%7T 100% - REEK
(Bi3E)
Assure Fintech Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 70% - Inactive
Limited (Note)
RESEMRER &R 0 10,000/ 7T 70% - EEEXR
Aa)(FEE)
Accel Education Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 70% - Inactive
& Immigration
Center Limited
(Note)
ERREERALE BB BE 10,000/ 7T 70% - EEEX
BT (FizE)
Accel New Energy ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 52% - Inactive
Limited (Note)
REMERERLAR &R 0 10,000/ 7T 52% - EEER
(Bi3E)
Note: These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year. MieE : % EHEB A RN AFE ML
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during RAFE - WEHFEB QT B BT ERER

the year. B o
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

33. RQFBBMRRE

THE COMPANY

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT T

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—FEMEARIMIRE 77,266 77,266
Amounts due from subsidiaries RIS VNGIE O 65,448 83,704
142,714 160,970

Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary U —FE M E A R FUE 52,300 75,200
Other receivables and prepayments H b R W R IE R IB T FIE 2,923 344
Bank balances and cash RITRERR NI 41,697 3,598
96,920 79,142
Current liabilities REBEE

Accruals FEEHER 355 916
Taxation payable FERT A IE 267 =
622 916
Net current assets BB EFR 96,298 78,226
Net assets BEFAE 239,012 239,196

Capital and reserves BERREE
Share capital & 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) fb e (P ) 231,012 231,196
Total equity farEns 239,012 239,196
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. XA THKEAMR T @
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Bt e
The reserves of the Company are as follows: AARIEEHIIOT -
Share Retained
premium profits Total
B A7 18 R RF B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FAT
At 1 April 2020 720204 A 1H 195,606 30,416 226,022
Profit and total comprehensive F R A R 2 E W 2R
income for the year = 30,774 30,774
Dividends recognised as distribution RAED KA REZ S
(Note 11) (BE&E11) - (25,600) (25,600)
At 31 March 2021 720213 H31H 195,606 35,590 231,196
Profit and total comprehensive F N R 2 E WA
income for the year - 49,416 49,416
Dividends recognised as distribution R ITRE AR R
(Note 11) (MEE11) - (49,600) (49,600)
At 31 March 2022 M20223H31H 195,606 35,406 231,012
CAPITAL COMMITMENT 34. BARESE

2022 2021
20225 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure in respect of the ~ HREKENE - BMEIKXHEZETH
acquisition of property, plant and BRNRE M HmE P EE 2 &R
equipment contracted for but not 53
provided in the consolidated financial
statements 353 -
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35. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 June 2022, the Group through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Ascend Group Holdings Limited (the “Purchaser”),
entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party (the “Vendor"”), pursuant
to which the Purchaser agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
agreed to sell, the entire issued share capital of Best
Investment Development Limited (the “Target Company”)
at an aggregate consideration of HK$61,828,000. The Target
Company currently holds three properties located at TML
Tower, No. 3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories
which comprise: (i) a unit located at Workshop A on 19th
Floor; (ii) a car parking space located at P91 on 3rd Floor;
and (iii) a heavy vehicle parking space located at No. HGV13
on 1st Floor. These properties are the only assets of the
Target Company. The acquisition of the Target Company is
considered as asset acquisition and had not yet completed
up to the date these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issuance.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & B I8 8RR MicE
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e 2 A = AN 4L
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35. HEMKREE

R202266H180 - AEBEFEBELE
B & 2 & Ascend Group Holdings Limited
(TBFDNE—BIE=FEHFIFIL
R EEHZ - Bt EARBWENE
75 [A] & i & Best Investment Development
Limited([ B AR ) K2 82 BT
KRB H61,828,000/ 7T ° BIEA A B BIH
B =B RE R IR 3R TMLE S H)
ME - BREOLN T NEISANEL
(MR =1BPOTMEENL © R(ifIm —18
HGVISEHER BB (REN - EYER
BERAFNE—FE - BERARKER/E
EWE - BRZENERE VB RRERE
T B - WEEEHEREARTK
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